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Our Patron

The Governor of Queensland 
His Excellency the Honourable Paul de Jersey ac

Notice of Meeting

The 82nd Annual General Meeting of the Royal Queensland Bush 
Children’s Health Scheme – BUSHkids – will be held on Thursday  
6 December 2018 at 5.30pm at 16 Morley Street, Toowong Q 4066.

Business 

• Confirmation of Minutes of the 81st Annual General Meeting  
 held on 6 December 2017

• Receive and adopt the Annual Report for the 12-month period  
 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

• Presentation of Annual Financial Report for the 12-month period 
 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

• Nomination and election of Council members: 
  • G Ryan – Deputy Chair 
  • J Martin – Council Member 
 • G Huggins – Council Member

• Approval of the updated 2018 Constitution

• Appoint auditors for the ensuing year;

• Transact any special business for which due notice  
 has been given. 

                

By order of the Council

Dr N J Bartels oam 
Chair



PROGRAM FOR AGES DESCRIPTION

1-2-3 Magic® 18 months–12 years Gives parents and carers practical ways to manage the behaviour of difficult children and 
provides easy to follow steps to help raise well-behaved, loving, competent children.

Abecedarian Approach Australia  
– 3a©

0–5 years 3a is one of the few evidence-based, proven programs that integrates basic principles of 
human learning and development into a fun and effective approach for parents and early 
childhood educators. The focus is on providing specific, evidence-based techniques that 
advance the personal, social and academic achievements of very young children who, 
through local circumstances, may require additional attention and support to ensure success 
as they grow and learn.

Alert Program®  
– How does your engine run? 

4+ years Teaches children to recognise and regulate their level of alertness to different situations, 
supporting their ability to engage appropriately in what they need to do during their day. 

A Steady Start to School (ASS2S)© A practical parent/carer workshop to help prepare their child for school, developed in-house 
by BUSHkids specifically for families in rural and remote areas.

Bringing Up Great Kids Parents/Carers Explore and reflect upon their parenting style and examine the messages passed on to their 
children through their behaviour, interactions and emotional reactions. Parents learn about 
the brain development of their children and understand how to meet their children’s growing 
needs. Parents also reflect on and explore the meaning behind their children’s behaviour and 
develop awareness of cues that trigger unhelpful or ineffective responses.

Circle of Security® All ages Gives parents the skills they need to provide emotional support to young children, enabling 
them to build their child’s resilience and help prepare them for school.

Cool Kids® Anxiety Programs© 3–6 years  
and 7–12 years

Facilitated at school or in Centre, these group sessions teach children the skills to recognise 
emotions and manage fears and shyness, encouraging positive engagement in activities. 

Face your Fears – Do as I do 7–13 years A group program designed for anxious children and their parents; includes sessions to 
support children in facing fears and developing helpful thoughts and brave behaviours.

Fingergym™ 4–6 years A fun way to provide younger children with the essential motor skills ― such as how to hold a 
pencil correctly or cut with scissors – they will need to do well when they enter school.

FRIENDS for Life©  
– Anxiety and Resilience

8+ years  One of three FRIENDS Resilience programs, this provides a fun way for children to develop 
resilience and confidence, helping maintain happiness and mental wellbeing throughout life.

Fun FRIENDS©  
– Anxiety and Resilience

4–7 years Another FRIENDS Resilience program, this is a great way for children to learn the social 
and emotional skills that will help them make and keep friends, build their self-esteem and 
confidence, and help them maintain their mental wellbeing throughout life.

Hanen Approach® The Hanen Centre began its work more than 35 years ago with a focus on early language 
intervention for children with language delays, and has since developed three other areas of 
expertise, each concerned with promoting the communication development of a particular 
group of children with specific needs.

PALS Social Skills Program  
– Playing and Learning to Socialise

3–6 years PALS teaches younger children the skills they need to build friendships and get along  
with others, particularly the social skills needed to do well in school.

Peaceful Kids 6–18 years Mindfulness and Positive Psychology-based program to lessen anxiety and stress and 
increase resilience in children, helping them build emotional resilience so they are better 
equipped to deal with the day-to-day stresses that life brings them.

Read and Grow 0+  years Promotes the development of early literacy and language skills through shared reading, 
evidence-informed strategies and activities. 

Seasons for Growth 6–18 years A group program that builds resilience and supports the wellbeing of children  
who have recently experienced loss due to death, family separation or migration.

Sleepwise© 0–6 years Provides parents with information to help understand children’s sleep needs, identify possible 
sleep difficulties and ways to support healthy sleeping habits, as well as providing specific 
support for children presenting with developmental delays. 

Stop Think Do 4–12 years Aims to develop skills to help children get along with others, make friends, problem-solve and 
manage emotions and behaviour.

Strong Not Tough©  
– Adult Resilience

16–18+ years Completing the trio of FRIENDS Resilience programs, this program is taught to parents to 
increase their resilience and coping skills and ensure that the FRIENDS language is being 
spoken in the home.

Toilet Time© 0–6 years Provides education for parents experiencing toilet training difficulties associated with children 
with developmental delays, offering practical ways and resources to help children achieve 
success with toilet training.

Triple P ®  

Positive Parenting Program
Parents/Carers Gives parents the knowledge and practical skills they need to manage the behaviour of 

difficult children and teenagers, helps parents build the relationship with their children 
and provides simple techniques for resolving family issues and preventing problems from 
developing. 

Zones of Regulation® 7+ years Helps children learn to identify their feelings and emotional reactions and use sensory  
and perspective-taking strategies to encourage better self-regulation in different situations. 

Glossary BUSHkids teams deliver a selection of programs and sessions tailored to the needs of local communities, so not all of 
those listed here may be available through individua Centres. Programs highlighted in blue are on a trial basis only, 
pending endorsement.
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Chair

It was 80 years ago this year 
that our fledgling organisation 
welcomed the first groups of 
Outback kids to our first coastal 
Home at Emu Park in Central 
Queensland. Both structures 
still stand, but our 21st Century 
BUSHkids would be almost 
unrecognisable to its forebears.

Our heritage, and decades 
of experience in delivering 
quality services to address 
continually evolving and 
changing healthcare needs, has 
well-credentialled BUSHkids 
in becoming a core community 
partner of the NDIS in the 
vanguard of the roll-out of its 
services across Queensland .

Also, the digital technologies 
to which we are now innately 
accustomed — unimaginable 
to our founders in the 1930s 
— now enable BUSHkids to 
provide eKindy support ‘pods’ 
to geographically-isolated 
youngsters across Queensland; 
moreover, we are well into 
the advanced stages of our 
multi-year TeleHealth research 
project which will inform a future, 
statewide operational framework 
of remote healthcare, community 
and family support.

To enable (in the envisioning) 
and underpin (in the execution) 
the significant, transformational 
expansion which BUSHkids 
has undertaken on many fronts 
in the past year requires two 
vital cornerstones: people and 
processes.

With the truly dedicated ‘sleeves 
rolled-up’ efforts of my fellow 
Council members across their 
respective portfolios — more 
than matched by the passionate 
commitment of our CEO and 
enthusiastically underscored 
by our therapists, team leaders 
and support staff, Friends of 
BUSHkids committee members 
and volunteers  — we have been 
able to deliver on both, for the 
kids, families and communities 
who it has been our privilege to 
serve for so many generations.

Growth of this nature demands 
a well-founded and rigorously-
maintained oversight of 
Quality Assurance and Risk 
Management processes to 
underpin safe, efficient and 
trustworthy service delivery.

In this respect we have been 
well-served by the efforts of 
Council members David Ham 
oam, Margaret Lavery and 
Jan Boys, who utilised their 
respective skillsets to build on  
the very solid foundation work 
begun by Carolyn Searle. 

We now have a 100-point 
checklist which is a standing 
agenda item at Council meetings 
and a consolidated, refined 
trans-organisational risk profile 
measured across half-a-dozen 
regularly-monitored metrics.

In flagging this in my report 
last year, I also referred to the 
necessary work being done 
to review and update our 
Constitution — which was  
last amended in April 1982 — 
and I particularly thank Council 
Deputy Chair Gloria Ryan and 
our CEO for their unstinting 
drive to revise and refresh the 
document which is, essentially, 
the defining ‘backbone’ of our 
organisation.

In this, we have received the 
tremendous pro bono support 
and expertise of Clayton Utz, 
and BUSHkids is very grateful 
for the time and attention which 
has been so generously given  
to us over the past two years.
Behind the scenes of this latest 
(of many in the history of 
BUSHkids) ‘growth spurt’ stand 
many more enablers who have 
made it logistically possible.

We value the  absolutely critical 
background work done by, 
among others, Council member 
Julian Martin, Brisbane office’s 
Ken Lewis and Gerard D’Rozario 
from contractor Bootstrap IT, 
who have helped build, guide, 
shape and expand our bespoke 
BUSHbase database and 
associated online systems.

This intensive collaboration 
across many platforms has 
enabled BUSHkids to stay 
abreast with (and, in many 
instances, ahead of) our 
organisation’s expansion and 
increasing diversity of service 
channels, contact points and 
reporting requirements.

Our Honorary Treasurer, Allison 
McLean, has been indefatigable 
in ensuring such strengthened 
resources are properly funded 
whilst keeping a strategic eye 
on BUSHkids’ financial position. 
In this vital work, we have also 
been ably guided by eagle-
eyed Council member Gail 
Huggins, another champion of 
early intervention services.

Their efforts have backstopped 
the achievements of Clinical 
Services Manager Susan 
Harrison and her teams, in not 
only undertaking the ‘heavy 
lifting’ of recruitment and 
training required to realise 
BUSHkids’ expansion but also in 
maintaining the high standards 
expected of our existing 
commitments to our client 
families and their communities, 
our supporters and funders.  
The growing breadth and depth 
of clinical expertise in our ranks 
enables us to support many more 
young lives and careers.

Also out of the spotlight, many 
may be surprised at the breadth 
and depth of the work done for 
BUSHkids by Matt Tesch from 
Masthead Design & Creative 
over the past seven years: apart 
from this Annual Report (and its 
many prior editions), you will see 
his creative skills — and deep 
conviction in supporting the 
work we do — in all manner of 
ways, from the attention-getting 
marquees at our Friends events 
to the embroidered ‘wordmark’ 
on the polo shirts our teams wear 
in their frontline roles.

Thank-you, to everyone I have 
mentioned here — and to all 
who I haven’t — for all you have 
done for BUSHkids.

These acknowledgements must 
span many more degrees, too, 
from the ongoing oversight of 
our Patron, the Governor of 
Queensland, His Excellency  
the Hon. Paul de Jersey ac, to the 
support of my wife, Annette, and 
our family — foremost among 
all the families in our vast, 
always-regenerating statewide 
BUSHkids community.

Honouring family is important, 
and ours — both personally 
and organisationally — has 
been humbled to be officially 
recognised now on no less than 
four occasions.

In assuming the mantle of my late 
father, Reg Bartels, at the helm 
of BUSHkids, it is more than a 
singular honour to be recognised 
(as he was) with the Medal of 
the Order of Australia; current 
Council member David Ham 
was similarly tributed in 2014, in 
the footsteps of former RQBCHS 
Chair Captain Geoff Hitchcock.

Such accolades fundamentally 
reflect the efforts of the many 
thousands of staff and volunteers 
over the years who have, both 
individually and collectively, 
helped make BUSHkids the 
enduring organisation it is.

Thank-you.

From the Hon. Jane Prentice MP, 
our Brisbane office’s Federal 
Member, who has been a 
staunch supporter of our work 
for many years, to my Council 
colleagues Jan Boys and 
Margaret Lavery,who will  
be retiring at this year’s AGM,  
my special thanks.

To all the many new members of 
our BUSHkids  families: welcome 
aboard — we have much more 
to achieve in the year ahead!
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Connections

Rotary Club of 
Warwick Sunrise
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Friends

 
FoBk Emerald
Our group enjoyed another busy 
year and members are looking 
forward to an even bigger 2019, 
delivering help to our Central 
Queensland kids.

The year started by using 
our fundraising to the best 
advantage at the Centre with 
an outdoor play/activity area 
and a rejuvenation of our front 
exterior and landscaping. 

We contracted Hammertime 
Constructions (now one of our 
key supporters) to erect a roof 
shade structure, and Andrew 
from Mad About Mowing 
completed all the landscaping, 
fencing and artificial grass 
surface. 

Andrew also installed our new 
water tank (courtesy of Central 
Highlands Regional Council) 
to look after our lawns and 
gardens. This was all completed 
in time for the NDIS opening 
ceremony on 27 July 2017 – 
thanks to all who made this 
happen!

Events
The NDIS opening was a huge 
success with our local Federal 
MP Ken O’Dowd and Mayor 
Kerry Hayes attending to do 
the honours. BUSHkids Council 
Chair Dr Neil Bartels and his 
wife Annette attended, as well 
as Council members Julian 
Martin, Allison McLean, and 
Bundaberg Cr Judy Peters, plus 
other local dignitaries. 

The team at Emerald Mitre10 
once again proved their 
community spirit when  Barry 
Brown presented a cheque for 
$5,000 to FoBk. Thank you, 
Barry and Justin!

Our popular golf day in early 
August 2017 fielded over 90 
players who teed-off together  
in the three-man ambrose. 

A big thank you to all the FoBk 
members who worked tirelessly 
preparing before and on the day 
– with a special thanks to Doug 
Gray, who again organised the 
event to precision timing. Thanks 
to all the sponsors, particularly 
Enwise Electrical, Westpac, 
Central Highlands Toyota and 
Peter Taylor’s Sewing Centre. 

In the end, we raised over 
$20,000 on the day, which 
eclipsed last year’s total by  
more than 33%!

This year, our volunteers 
supported the Emerald Centre 
staff with displays at both the 
Tony Attwood autism conference 
and the annual Ag-grow 
Emerald trade show and also 
held a fundraiser in Brisbane,  
as part of the RNA Show Week. 

9 Ante Portas, a group of nine 
ladies which has held an annual 
fundraising cocktail party for the 
last 10 years, in 2018 funded the 
BUSHkids Telehealth Program 
in Emerald. BUSHkids is keen to 
expand this program to reach 
more isolated areas in Central 
Queensland and beyond. 

We raised more than $8,000 
on the night and the event was 
a huge success in spreading the 
word about the good work that 
BUSHkids is doing in the Bush.

Our final 2018 event involved 
co-ordinating celebrations for  
a very special 80th anniversary. 

This commemorated the opening 
of the first Bush Children’s Health 
Scheme home in Emu Park, 
three years after the Scheme’s 
foundation in Brisbane. 

Event guests included the local 
Member for Keppel, Ms Brittany 
Lauga, with lots of long-time 
supporters, committee Chairs 
and even some past ‘Bush kids’ 
– who told of their experiences 
when they came to the home 
many years ago. The event  
was held in conjunction with the 
local Queensland Country 
Women’s Association ladies 
who also provided morning tea. 
(The CWA was instrumental for 
many years in providing support 
to the kids when they visited the 
beach.) 

And, as usual, Carlton Meyn 
and Susan Harrison were 
providing their support from the 
Brisbane office. Thanks so much!

I would be remiss if I didn’t 
thank Rachel Robertson and her 
wonderful team for their tireless 
efforts and support in all our 
projects. Rachel is a blessing 
to the Emerald Centre, and the 
children of Central Queensland 
are fortunate to have her at 
BUSHkids. 

Thank you to my small band of 
supporters, who are always with 
us on this journey: particularly 
Clinton, Ali, Justin, Peggy, Doug, 
and my wife, Kaye.  

Charlie Wilson  
Chair, FoBk Emerald

Friends of BUSHkids (FoBk) is a network of volunteers based in the  
communities we serve. The Friends network provides practical support  
to the organisation, boosting BUSHkids’ profile, promoting our services,  
raising funds to support our operations and strengthening our position  
at the heart of the community. FoBk members come from a wide variety  
of backgrounds: parents whose children have benefited from our services,  
health professionals who have an interest in rural or children’s health and  
from local businesses, government, and community organisations.

45
FoBk events  

and meetings 
conducted
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FoBk Warwick
The Warwick Friends group 
(pictured here) enjoyed a very 
successful year during 2017–18.

We began by launching our 
year-long multi-draw raffle, with 
the stall for selling the tickets 
based in the local shopping 
centre over four different days. 
This also provided a platform 
to engage and inform the local 
community about BUSHkids’ 
services and programs. The 
generous, family-friendly prizes 
spanned a range of outings and 
the Rotary Club of Warwick 
Sunrise also donated the 
printing of the tickets.

Our annual Bush Dance, held 
in June, was a very successful 
event due to the generosity of 
many businesses and community 
members, which enabled 
admission prices to be set at a 
very appealing level, resulting in 
many young (and not so young!) 
families enjoying a fun night of 
dancing and socialising. 

The Redbacks AFL Club 
donated the use of the clubhouse  
and supplied food at reasonable 
prices on the night. 

The Band-O-Coots Bush 
Band once again enthralled the 
crowd with great music, while 
organising the dancers on the 
floor where they had the room 
vibrating for the entire evening!

Next came the biggest day 
of the year – our annual Golf 
Day and Dinner, which was 
staged in August 2018. For 
this, we received support from 
the Warwick Golf Club, the 
Condamine Sports Club, 
the golfers and many local 
businesses and individuals who 
provided sponsorship and goods 
as prizes.

The dinner was replete with 
friendship, good food and 
entertainment from the East 
Street Singers. Our principal 
speakers were the Hon. David 
Littleproud MP, and BUSHkids 
Clinical Services Manager 
Susan Harrison. 

Susan also spoke about the 
progression of BUSHkids’ 
services from the early period 
of the coastal homes 80 years 
ago up to the current growth of 
services across Queensland. A 
well-contested auction followed, 
which provided lots of fun and 
funds, with all auction items 
generously donated by the 
community.

Throughout the year, our 
‘publicity guru’ Ian Mace 
received enormous support from 
the local media – Warwick 
People and Place Magazine, 
Warwick Daily News and 
Rainbow FM – when promoting 
our activities. 

As you can see, we have been 
very busy for the small band that 
we are, but our enthusiasm is 
boundless!

Our group includes volunteers 
from the education and health 
sectors, from local government, 
the parents and grandparents of 
BUSHkids clients and community 
members, all of whom are eager 
to work hard supporting and 
promoting BUSHkids. 

Of course, another vital source 
of encouragement and support 
are the BUSHkids Warwick 
staff members, who are always 
available to support and assist 
the group, as well as attend our 
meetings and events – special 
thanks for going above and 
beyond the call of your daily 
duties!

Sandra Head 
Chair, FoBk Warwick

FoBk Bundaberg
Our committee, the face of BUSHkids in the 
local community, raised funds throughout 
the year and promoted the wonderful work 
of our organisation in the local community. 

We have a core group of like-minded 
members, who each bring their knowledge 
and talents to the group to assist with 
practical help to BUSHkids. One member, 
for example - Scott Lamond, chief of staff  
at the ABC Radio Wide Bay – gave his 
talent as the voice for the BUSHkids’  
A Steady Start to School promotional 
video. These programs are so important to 
support children and families in the local 
community to help them grow and learn. 

This was demonstrated through two free 
workshops, funded by NDIS, held in 
April 2018. The first, titled Parents can be 
Teachers too, was open to families and 
early years educators and provided an 
opportunity to gain insight into helping 
children transition into a formal learning 
environment. The second workshop was 
a full-day professional development 
opportunity for early years educators to 
gain valuable skills in improving children’s 
self-regulation and guiding their behaviour. 

These free workshops, run by Brad Williams 
from Parentshop, were very well received 
and appreciated by all who attended.

Fundraising is an integral part of how 
we support BUSHkids and our inaugural 
Barefoot Bowls Day in July 2017 was 
enjoyed by everyone who attended. We 
decided to make this an annual event, with 
plans for another event in October 2018 
(just before this report closed for printing). 

The BUSHkids team supported the 
November 2017 Bush Dance — which 
was hosted by the Bundaberg Regional 
Council for Social Inclusion Week — with 
a ‘Kids’ Corner’ to keep the young ones 
entertained throughout the evening and also 
provided desserts for sale. 

Our presence at many community events 
and networking with other community 
organisations throughout the year has raised 
the profile of BUSHkids and awareness of 
the invaluable services provided to help 
children and families. 

We were fortunate to receive much 
appreciated donations from the 
Commonwealth Bank, Bunnings and 
Rotary Club of Bundaberg Daybreak 
throughout the year to help BUSHkids 
continue its important work within the 
community.

Cr Judy Peters 
Chair, FoBk Bundaberg

Parentshop’s Brad Williams and FoBk Bundaberg Chair  
Cr Judy Peters.

L-R: Cr Judy Peters, FoBk member Scott Lamond, Joanne 
Pryor from Commonwealth Bank, and BUSHkids CEO 
Carlton Meyn at a cheque presentation.

The Hon. David Littleproud MP
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Council

Dr Neil Bartels oam  
(Chair)

A medical practitioner with a keen interest in children’s health 
issues, Neil holds a Master’s degree in Law with a great  
interest in the equity of access to health services for more  

remote or disadvantaged children, particularly those with behavioural,  
learning or social disadvantage. Dr Bartels provides valuable medical and  
legal experience and intense support in the direction of the organisation,  
and was recognised for his lengthy service in the Australia Day 2018 honours.

Mr Julian Martin  
(Member)

After growing up in the Bush, Julian has a high regard for  
what BUSHkids is contributing to the children of rural and  
regional Queensland.  He has had more than 25 years of 

experience in the information systems industry and a background  
of providing business-enabling solutions to organisations. Julian supports  
us greatly in all areas of our ICT needs and has been a valued adviser for  
the transformation of our ICT systems across the organisation. 

Ms Carolyn Searle  
(Member)
Growing up in Mackay, Carolyn understands how the 
needs of children and families in regional areas are often  
overlooked and how BUSHkids provides the only health  
services of its type in many areas. She worked in  

accounting and legal fields before founding a recruitment agency, and 
has since provided valuable advice for our organisation. She has helped  
increase the profile of BUSHkids, ensuring our valuable services offered  
reach the children most in need.

Mrs Margaret Lavery 
(Member)

Margaret joined the BUSHkids Council in 2017. After  
graduating from The University of Queensland and spending  
several years in the Public Service, she returned to UQ,  

devoting nearly 30 years to a variety of planning, policy and support roles  
with the University. Margaret began working as a volunteer in BUSHkids’  
Brisbane office during 2014, contributing her experience in business  
administration and planning to the organisation.

Ms Jan Boys 
(Member)

Jan has dedicated her working life to education – as a  
teacher, curriculum and policy developer, school support  
centre co-ordinator and, more recently, as Executive  
Director and Regional Director of Education in Chinchilla,  

Darling Downs, Toowoomba and Ipswich. Jan understands that good  
health and wellbeing are vital to effective learning, particularly in regional  
areas, and contributes her extensive career experience to BUSHkids’ growing 
list of educational programs.

BUSHkids Council is an equal partner in and contributor to 
the growth and change in our organisation. Over the past 
year Council members have not only had strategic input 
but have also provided hands-on involvement across many 
aspects of the organisation. Here is a brief profile of each 
Council member, and a summary in the table below of their 
attendance at Council meetings.  

Ms Gloria Ryan  
(Deputy Chair)

Gloria is legally trained and is a very enthusiastic contributor  
to all aspects of our contracting matters and supporting  
BUSHkids with legal advice as well as comprehensively  

advising on our Policies and Procedures. Through the changes to the  
organisation’s branding she assisted greatly with the registration of the  
BUSHkids trademark. Since being elected as Deputy Chair in December 2014, 
Gloria has brought her skills to support a number of key strategic areas.

Ms Allison McLean  
(Hon.Treasurer)
Allison brings her vast accounting knowledge with many  
years in the areas of business advice, accounting and  
taxation to support the BUSHkids finance team. Growing  
up on a farm which was worked by generations of her  

family she feels an affinity with families in rural and remote areas.  Allison  
was originally involved with the Redcliffe Centre through community  
groups, organising games nights, activities, and outings for children who  
had been brought in for treatment. 

Mr David Ham oam  
(Member)

David worked for Education Queensland all his adult life,  
first as a teacher, then principal and inspector, and finally  
as the Director of Human Resources. As a young teacher  

and principal in Outback Queensland he was very impressed by the care  
given to children by our organisation. David has given us enormous  
voluntary assistance in the creation of our Policies & Procedures in many  
areas and continues to volunteer his time on further projects. 

Mrs Gail Huggins  
(Member)

Gail is a Speech Pathologist who has extensive clinical  
and administrative experience gained from working in  
government and non-government organisations throughout 
Australia. Her commitment, based on the knowledge and  

service planning experience that early intervention for children at  
developmental risk is vital insurance against long-term disadvantage, has  
always been to provide equity of access to a well-resourced evidence-based 
service such  as ours. 

2018 Council 8 Feb 22 Mar 26 Apr 14 Jun 2 Aug 13 Sep 18 Oct 29 Nov* 6 Dec*

Dr N Bartels oam Attended Apology Attended Attended Attended Attended Attended Intending Intending

Ms G Ryan Apology Attended Attended Attended Attended Apology Attended Intending Intending

Ms A McLean Attended Attended Attended Attended Attended Attended Attended Intending Intending

Mr D Ham oam Attended Attended Attended Attended Attended Apology Attended Apology Intending

Mrs G Huggins Attended Attended Attended Attended Attended Attended Attended Intending Intending

Mr J Martin Attended Apology Attended Attended Apology Attended Attended Intending Intending

Ms C Searle Attended Apology Attended Attended Attended Attended Apology Intending Intending

Mrs M Lavery Attended Attended Attended Attended Attended Attended Apology Intending Intending

Ms J Boys Apology Attended Attended Apology Attended Attended Attended Intending Intending

*Note: these meetings scheduled after the production deadline for this report; attendance notes are declared intentions based on prior advice received from Council members.

Bullets adjacent to each name indicate the number of projects worked on or events  
attended in addition to regular Council meetings during calendar year 2018 (one large  
bullet = 10 commitments).
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It is with great pride and gratitude I have the privilege to 
report to you on BUSHkids’ latest operational outcomes 
and reflect on our significant achievements in 2018  
– a year of high productivity and significant growth. 

Throughout this period of expansion, our teams have focused on 
maintaining the effective, high quality services our children, families 
and communities expect from BUSHkids. This has required us to 
maintain focus on our strategic aims and emphasise and expand 
upon our Quality processes and Risk Management approach. 

In 2015 BUSHkids’ frontline staff, operational leadership team and 
Council together invested an enormous amount of thought, time  
and effort into the development of our 2015–2018 Strategic Plan. 

In 2018 I am pleased to be able to report on our significant 
achievements in each of our six Key Result Areas (KRAs), as defined 
by everyone involved in the process at its outset three years ago.

KRA1 is ‘Accessibility and Equity’.

We identified the need to increase the availability of our services 
to rural, regional and remote families and children through the 
development and implementation of innovative service delivery 
methods. 

We have continued to expand our service types and income 
streams to this end, reaching many more children and families across 
Queensland. We have continued to develop and deliver our Allied 
Health services across Mount Isa, Emerald, Bundaberg, Dalby and 
Warwick. Each is able to be delivered thanks to funding from the 
Queensland Government along with significant contributions from 
our own fundraising work. 

Now in its third year, our Children and Parenting Support Services, 
funded by the Department of Social Services, are flourishing in  
Agnes Water, Kingaroy and Stanthorpe. 

We have been successfully delivering NDIS Early Childhood 
Early Intervention (ECEI) Services in Bundaberg for over a year 
and are now becoming well established with these services in the 
Rockhampton, Livingston Shire, Central Highlands, Banana Shire  
and Gladstone Local Government Areas.

We have recently been awarded two new service agreements to 
provide NDIS ECEI services from Hervey Bay and Maroochydore. 
These services are becoming established, with new teams recruited, 
premises secured and training and initial client work commenced.

Facilitation of eKindy pods in geographically-isolated locations has 
increased significantly with funding being awarded for 14 locations 
across Queensland.

In addition to increasing and diversifying our revenue streams, 
BUSHkids has been developing and implementing innovative  
service delivery models — in both universal and targeted programs. 
We are progressing well with our teleHealth research program, 
with final data being collected for analysis and to inform this new 
BUSHkids operational framework.

‘Best practice in service delivery’ is our second deliverable 
under our Strategic Plan’s KRAs. 

We aim to ensure our services are evidence-based, clinically efficient 
and have demonstrable outcomes for the families and communities 
which we serve.  

We have increased our targeted and universal programs through 
further development and full rollout of our A Steady Start to School 
program, which helps parents to support their child’s development  
in preparation for school. 

We have also further developed the Read and Grow program to 
help more families and educators to support emergent literacy skills  
in their children. 

Applying single-session consultation strategies has also resulted 
in some innovative practice that has been very well received by 
parents, in response to high demands for our services.

CEO 1,462

Chief Executive Officer Carlton Meyn

2018:$7.9m

2015:$3.1m

Generated by 
BUSHkids

Queensland 
Health

Queensland 
Government Other NDIS

BUSHKIDS  
FUNDING

Number of kids helped

2017

2018

3,156

7,468 Number of sessions 
conducted

11,4972017

2018
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CEO

Our third Key Result Area is partnerships. 

We develop relationships and networks where there is a commonality 
of purpose and shared values. One of BUSHkids’ core values is 
‘Working collaboratively to make a difference for vulnerable 
families’. 

We recognise that the changes we want to see for children and 
families across Queensland cannot be achieved by a single person 
or organisation. As a classic African proverb holds, ‘It takes a village  
to raise a child …’

We aim to develop partnerships to gather the momentum needed to 
really ensure that children are supported to do the best they can and 
to become valuable contributors to communities across Queensland, 
regardless of their postcode. You will read in the pages of this report 
of the collaborative relationships and approaches we are taking with 
families, communities, universities and local networks to really make 
a difference.

BUSHkids’ fourth focus is on being a sustainable and efficient 
organisation. 

As you will see, we have diversified funding streams, upgraded 
our bespoke database BUSHbase and are investigating and 
implementing new finance and HR systems. 

We have developed an action plan for achieving accreditation under 
appropriate quality frameworks and will be working towards this in 
the coming year. 

Our Friends of BUSHkids networks help us to understand and 
respond to the needs of local communities and builds in a level of 
accountability to the communities we serve.

Our fifth KRA is for BUSHkids to be recognised as a leader 
of developmental services to families and communities in 
Queensland. 

By achieving this through the provision of excellent, innovative and 
responsive services, BUSHkids aims to make a difference for more 
children and families. This year we have grown our social media 
following and have frequently featured in print, television and radio 
media articles. 

Our local teams are being recognised in their local communities 
for the quality of the work they are undertaking with children and 
families. In Mount Isa, our team was nominated for the Excellence in 
Children & Family Services Delivery Award, presented by Young 
People Ahead (YPA) Youth and Community Services.

Our final KRA is people and culture – BUSHkids aims to be an 
employer of choice for staff and volunteers. 

During the past year, our staff numbers have increased substantially. 
We have worked to maintain our BUSHkids ethos and approach 
throughout this period of growth. We are strongly committed to this 
priority and I have personally led corporate orientation and values 
workshops for all new teams. 

Across the coming year, these workshops will roll out for all existing 
teams. Professional supervision has been reviewed and reinforced 
across the organisation. Our growth in staffing has yielded benefits in 
opportunities for growth and development of our existing workforce 
as team members step up into leadership roles. We have also been 
able to improve our sustainability by becoming accredited to provide 
internal training in a range of evidence-based programs.

The past 12 months have been difficult yet satisfying at many levels 
professionally, as well as for me personally. When illness profoundly 
touches one’s own family it is also a stark reminder of the diverse 
challenges being faced on a daily basis by BUSHkids’ client 
families — and a source of renewed focus to work to ensure that no 
children across Queensland are disadvantaged simply because of 
geography. 

I offer my sincere appreciation and thanks to each and every person 
who supported me in these efforts throughout 2018.

I take this opportunity to thank our funders, donors, supporters, 
community connections, volunteers, our FoBk teams who inspire 
us, BUSHkids Council members that guide us and, most of all, our 
dedicated staff who have served BUSHkids and our clients.

We look forward to the challenges and opportunities the coming 
year will bring as we continue our work in local communities 
supporting children and families across this great state of 
Queensland.

Carlton Meyn 
Chief Executive Officer



11

Media



Events

12

BUSHkids launched NDIS early childhood services across Central and North Queensland at 
the end of July 2018, with the official opening of our Early Childhood Early Intervention (ECEI) 
service centres in Rockhampton, Gladstone and Emerald. The launch of our ECEI services was 
a great success, attracting considerable media attention and creating further awareness of the 
work BUSHkids is doing across rural, regional and remote Queensland communities. 

BUSHkids would like to say 
a special thank-you to the 
following dignitaries for 
their continual support and 
attending the launch of our 
ECEI services – the Hon. Jane 
Prentice mp, Mr Ken O’Dowd 
mp, Mr Barry O’Rourke mp, and 
Mayor Kerry Hayes, our MCs 
Cr Judy Peters, Scott Lamond 
and Charlie Wilson, and 
BUSHkids Council members  
Dr Neil Bartels oam and 
his wife Annette, Honorary 
Treasurer Allison McLean, 
Julian Martin, Jan Boys, 
Margaret Lavery and  
David Ham oam.
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Mobilising community 
support in Emerald

Clinton Adams, a real estate agent and 
auctioneer, is part of the FoBk committee 
in Emerald which has done some fantastic 
work this year supporting their local service 
centre.

“I got involved with BUSHkids through my 
good friends Kay and Charlie Wilson,” 
said Clinton. “Emerald is a close-knit 
community so I knew a little bit about the 
work BUSHkids does to help kids and their 
families in and around the town and across 
the Central Highlands. 

“It’s really rewarding knowing that kids 
are getting the support they so desperately 
need from such a passionate group of 
professionals working out of BUSHkids’ 
Emerald Service Centre – and that as 
members of the FoBk committee we are  
in a small way part of that.

“FoBk works to build relationships within the 
local community, provides volunteers to help 
out at the centre, helps to promote the work 
BUSHkids does and helps raise funds for the 
organisation. 

“We run an annual golf day fundraiser in 
Emerald and again this year we received 
amazing support from the Emerald 
community. We had 30 teams take part and 
with sponsorship from local businesses we 
raised over $21,000 from what was a really 
enjoyable day.  

“We’ve also been working to create an 
outdoor therapy space and garden for 
kids and families visiting the service centre. 
We’ve had FoBk volunteers tidying the 
grounds and painting. We’ve helped build 
an outside shade structure and have worked 
on planting and landscaping the grounds. 

“It’s looking really good and it’s somewhere 
that can be used as an alternative therapy 
space for the kids and a relaxing area for 
families visiting the centre.

“The thing that really stands out for me this 
year was being part of the event held down 
in Emu Park to mark the 80th anniversary  
of the Bush Children’s Health Scheme — 
which was what BUSHkids was originally 
called — opening its first children’s home  
on the Capricorn Coast.

“The home used to take in kids from all 
across Central Queensland and provide 
them with free medical and dental treatment 
they couldn’t get in the bush. 

“The Emu Park event was a really moving 
experience; we had people who are now in 
their 80s taking so passionately about how 
BUSHkids changed their life. It made me 
very proud to be part of the organisation.

“The thing is, there is still a lack of health 
services and support for families in Outback 
areas of the State and BUSHkids is bridging 
a gap in Allied Health services that are 
really important to the future of rural and 
remote communities.”

Support from over 
the airwaves

Scott Lamond is the Chief of Staff at ABC 
Wide Bay. After studying as a journalist, 
Scott worked as a radio presenter around 
Australia and was the afternoon drivetime 
host on ABC Gold Coast before returning 
home to Bundaberg in 2014 to lead the 
Wide Bay team.

For the past two years Scott has been 
a BUSHkids volunteer. He provided the 
voiceover for BUSHkids’ A Steady Start 
to School video and is a key member of 
Friends of BUSHkids (FoBk) in Bundy.

“I got involved with BUSHkids after chatting 
with Carlton Meyn and Susan Harrison 
who told me about the fantastic work the 
organisation does in and around Bundy. 
Carlton invited me to join FoBk and  
I didn’t hesitate to say yes as I really wanted 
to support a great cause which does so 
much to help my community,” said Scott. 

“BUSHKids makes a real difference now that 
will improve the lives of many.”

“I’m a FoBk committee member and we’re 
the face of BUSHkids, working to raise 
funds, promote the organisation and support 
the awesome staff and volunteers who go 
above and beyond to serve children in 
need. It’s important we let as many people 
know about BUSHkids as possible, and 
I’ve been able to work with local media 
organisations to help get the word out — 
BUSHkids has a great story that needs  
to be heard.

“It’s been particularly pleasing to see 
BUSHkids’ rapid growth, especially 
through the NDIS, and it’s fantastic that 
in partnership with other organisations 
BUSHkids continues to innovate, evolve 
and keep itself relevant. Over the past 
12–18 months I’ve had the privilege to be 
involved in a number of centre openings 
and really enjoyed being MC for the new 
Rockhampton centre opening in July. 

“For me it’s a real honour to be associated 
with an organisation that has such a rich 
history and I’d encourage anyone to help 
BUSHkids out in whatever way they can. 
It’s friendly, welcoming and is leading the 
way in early intervention work with young 
children. Most of all it’s blessed with great 
staff and a wonderful culture. 

“As the organisation continues to expand  
I hope we can grow the network of Friends 
of BUSHkids support groups across the 
state, strengthen regional communities and 
help change lives for the better.”

Volunteers

BUSHkids couldn’t provide the services it does to rural, regional and remote 
communities without the help of an army of dedicated volunteers who give up 
their time in support of the organisation. Our volunteers support BUSHkids in a 
variety of ways, whether through fundraising, organising events, promoting the 
organisation in the communities we serve, or by helping at the service centres.

1,856

Hours given by  
Volunteers to 

BUSHkids
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Training

FRIENDS Resilience training
BUSHkids is now a licensed provider for the FRIENDS Resilience 
programs in Queensland, with two staff qualified to provide training 
to other staff and maintain the calibre of program provision delivery. 

The FRIENDS Resilience programs are a great way for kids to learn 
the social and emotional skills that will enable them to make and 
keep friends, build self-esteem and confidence, and help maintain 
their mental wellbeing throughout their lives. 

The World Health Organization has recognised the FRIENDS 
programs for the treatment and prevention of anxiety and depression, 
and all BUSHkids Centres use at least two of the FRIENDS suite of 
programs in service delivery.

A Steady Start to School (ASS2S) training
ASS2S — the BUSHkids-developed school readiness workshop 
which helps parents prepare their kids for starting school — has 
its own accredited self-paced staff training program to ensure the 
consistency and quality of ASS2S delivery. 

All staff must undertake this program before they can conduct the 
program on behalf of BUSHkids. ASS2S training involves reading 
research, watching a training video and completing three skills 
demonstration sessions with a supervisor. After this, staff must 
successfully pass an exam before delivering the program.  

Read and Grow training
BUSHkids has been collaborating with Read 
and Grow developer Karryn Johns since 2015 
to deliver Read and Grow training to our 
staff. Read and Grow programs promote the 
development of early literacy and language 
skills, helping to give children a good start to their learning.

BUSHkids staff provide the three-hour training developed by Read 
and Grow as well as a parent program, developed by BUSHkids, 
which includes the one-hour parent workshop and a five-home-visit 
program. 

Training and development has been a key focus for us 
this year, with many new staff joining our expanding 
organisation. BUSHkids is accredited to provide in-house 
training to new staff through a number of evidence-based 
programs, including:

y The Abecedarian Approach Australia (3a)

y FRIENDS Resilience programs: Fun Friends,  
    Friends for Life, and Strong Not Tough

y Read and Grow 

y A Steady Start to School (ASS2S).

1,100

Hours of staff 
Professional 
Development

Abecedarian 3a training
The Abecedarian Approach Australia — 3a is an evidence-based 
approach that teaches key strategies to help children and their 
parents understand the rudiments of learning. 

This approach is based on more than 30 years of peer-reviewed 
research that has shown significant benefits to the children and 
parents who engage in the use of the key strategies. 

The University of Melbourne oversees the training and development 
of Abecedarian Approach practitioners and trainers in Australia 
(3a), and BUSHkids staff who complete the training have the 
opportunity to sit an exam which allows them to become a registered 
Abecedarian practitioner.

Currently BUSHkids has one 3a trainer with a total of 33 BUSHkids 
staff and 16 workers from local communities trained as registered 
practitioners during the year.

22 20

BUSHkids staff 
accredited to  
deliver ASS2S

Workshops delivered 
to parents and 

carers

147

BUSHkids staff  
successfully completed  

program training

73

FRIENDS

49

3a Abecedarian

25

Read and Grow



15

eKindy
eKindy is an innovative distance 
education program enabling parents 
living in rural and remote areas to 
provide a kindy experience for their 
four-year-old children. 

Working in conjunction with a regional school and the Brisbane 
School of Distance Education, eKindy provides kids who are 
unable to attend kindy regularly — either due to distance or because 
they are not well enough to travel — with a comprehensive ‘at home’ 
kindergarten program in the year before they enter Prep.

This provides invaluable kindy experiences which maximise their 
learning as they play, create, imagine and discover, preparing them 
to enter school. Children taking part in eKindy receive 15 hours of 
kindergarten for 40 weeks of the year during term time, equivalent to 
a centre-based kindergarten program.

BUSHkids eKindy ‘pods’
Local state schools are encouraged to set up an  
eKindy pod or hub where children can attend sessions  
and in 2016 BUSHkids partnered with Proston State School and 
Brisbane School of Distance Education to support an eKindy pod. 
Following the success of the program at Proston, BUSHkids was 
approached by several other rural schools keen to establish an 
eKindy pod of their own. 

The eKindy pod was seen as a way for children to meet and learn 
through play with their peers and it quickly became noticeable 
how children attending an eKindy pod became familiar with the 
school environment and routines, which subsequently helped them 
successfully transition into Prep.

During 2017, BUSHkids supported six eKindy pods in schools 
at Proston, Bell, Karara, Yelarbon, Morven, and Gumlu, with 
local communities raising their own funds to support this learning 
opportunity for their children. 

Following the success of these pods, the Department of Education 
invited BUSHkids to apply for funding to further expand its eKindy 
services as standalone care facilities for the 2018 school year. 
BUSHkids was successful in its application and is now supporting 
eKindy pods in 14 schools across the Darling Downs and Central 
Queensland, with two schools — at Yelarbon and Bauhinia — each 
providing two eKindy pods to meet demand for places. 

Within each program, BUSHkids provides the facilitator who 
works with the children in the school’s eKindy pod. To help with 
the program’s planning and development, the BUSHkids eKindy 
facilitators have support from a Distance Education-qualified kindy 
teacher, as well as regular support and professional development 
from the BUSHkids Clinical Leadership Team to help build the 
facilitator’s capacity and that of the local community. All the 
BUSHkids eKindy sites are more than 45km away from the nearest 
local kindy programs.

ekindy 191
eKindy programs 

conducted for 
isolated kids

Case Study 
William discovers the joy of books
During 2018, a four-year-old boy named William1 attended one  
of BUSHkids’ eKindy pods and discovered the joy of books for the 
first time. 

When he entered the pod, William found a book and was keen  
to explore; sadly, it was the first time William had seen a book and  
he had no idea of how to hold, let alone read, the book in his hands. 

BUSHkids’ eKindy facilitator, seeing William’s eagerness to learn, 
seized the opportunity to introduce him to the world of books and 
book conventions. 

By term two, William had learned how to hold a book correctly,  
turn pages, use pictures as cues and has developed an amazing love 
of story time. This eager young man now believes he is a reader and 
sits quietly holding books and tells stories based on the pictures in 
front of him. 

Most of all, William’s understanding of books makes him better 
prepared for starting Prep next year. 

1 Not his real name.



16

CPSS

BUSHkids Children and Parenting Support Services (CPSS), funded by the 
Department of Social Services (DSS), provide early intervention to improve 
children’s development and support parents and carers by strengthening 
parenting skills — and by helping build their capacity to better support the  
children in their care. 

We achieve this by conducting supported 
playgroups in the community, by providing 
school readiness and education programs, 
and through home visits to support families 
in particular need of help. 

The parenting program is currently provided 
in the: 

• Agnes Water and Miriam Vale

• Kingaroy, Kingaroy North and   
 Nanango 

• Stanthorpe and Stanthorpe region 

local government areas under the 
management of BUSHkids’ Social 
Work Team Leader supported by Early 
Intervention Facilitators (EIFs) and an 
administration officer. 

Across all these regions, BUSHkids provides 
early intervention programs, including:

•	 Playing and Learning to Socialise 
(PALS) — an evidence-based program 
that gives younger children the skills they 
need to build friendships and get along 
with other children

•	Fingergym™ — fine motor skill   
 development program that provides   
 younger kids with the essential motor   
 skills — such as how to hold a pencil  
 correctly or cut with scissors — they will  
 need when they enter school.

•	Read and Grow — emergent literacy  
 program to promote the development of  
 early literacy and language skills,  
 helping give children a good start to  
 their learning.

•	Fun FRIENDS — helps children learn  
 the social and emotional skills that will  
 enable them to make and keep friends,  
 build their self-esteem and confidence,  
 and help them maintain their mental  
 wellbeing throughout life

•	 Mother Goose playgroup — an 
evidenced-based early learning 
approach

•	 Supported playgroups — these are 
play-based activities designed to help 
prepare children for starting school.

In addition, BUSHkids provides parent 
education such as our own A Steady 
Start to School (ASS2S) school readiness 
workshop, the Triple P® Positive Parenting 
Program, Strong not Tough FRIENDS 
Resilience program — that helps build 
personal strength, confidence and resilience 
— and the 1-2-3 Magic® parenting 
education program, which gives parents 
and carers practical ways to manage 
children’s behaviour and provides easy-to-
follow steps to help raise confident, loving, 
competent kids.

In 2017–2018, our DSS-funded teams  
also provided training for other professionals 
in the communities in which we work, 
targeting emergent literacy, play and 
behavioural management. Key areas for 
capacity-building included ongoing  
Read and Grow training for early childcare 
workers, and we also trained a group of 
Certificate III Early Childhood students at 
Kingaroy TAFE. 

Stanthorpe and Kingaroy also joined with 
Nature Play QLD for a series of workshops 
to encourage outdoor play for families.

During the year, BUSHkids also partnered 
with Parentshop, a leading educational 
specialist in bringing about lifelong 
behaviour change, to conduct workshops 
for primary school and early childhood 
workers.

These focused on enhancing their 
understanding of and skills in 1-2-3 Magic® 
principles, which can be applied in their 
schools, kindies and child care centres; 
complementing the parenting programs we 
are operating in Stanthorpe. 

Service developments
The CPSS teams have continued to focus on productivity and currently experienced staff are 
working towards a 70:30 ratio of clinical verses non-clinical service provision. This process  
has resulted in good levels of ongoing service delivery across all sites.

Due to the travel required to support families and children across the three regions we have 
been exploring more efficient service delivery methods. This has included spending whole 
days in a single location: for example, in the Agnes Water region our EIF has targeted 
towns such as Lowmead, facilitating a playgroup and then conducting FRIENDS Resilience 
programs there. 

All Children and Parenting staff have now completed training in the FRIENDS Resilience 
programs and during the year we have provided 79 children across the three sites with the 
opportunity to complete Fun FRIENDS and Friends for Life group programs. 

During 2018–2019, we plan to focus on providing the Strong Not Tough parenting 
program, which will promote resilience in the parents we work with in the local communities.

Sessions in 
Agnes Water

Sessions for kids 
& parents in Stanthorpe

240

302
Kids supported 

in Kingaroy

704



Sessions conducted for  
521 kids under CPSS 

program

1,416
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CAHS

BUSHkids Children’s Allied Health Services (CAHS) teams 
provide individual and group assessment, intervention, 
support and advice for children aged from birth to 10 years 
of age and their families, as well as targeted programs and 
health education sessions.

Over the last 12 months, Allied Health teams have worked to improve 
the social, health and educational outcomes of children, families 
and communities with a particular emphasis on providing access to 
supports for vulnerable and at-risk families. 

Each team demonstrates an ongoing commitment to BUSHkids’ 
purpose through a variety of initiatives and innovative approaches 
to service delivery. The supports provided are unique and tailored to 
the needs of the communities they serve. Whilst partially funded by 
either state and/or federal funding, our Allied Health services are 
heavily reliant on BUSHkids’ own revenue raising efforts, as well as the 
generous donations and fundraising activities supported by community 
members.

Teams include Family Health Support Workers, Occupational 
Therapists, Psychologists and Speech Pathologists with the exact 
composition of individual teams dependent on the needs of the  
specific community they serve. 

Supporting BUSHkids’ workforce
Supporting the professional development needs of staff in remote and 
regional service centres continues to be a significant and essential 
part of our approach. Clinical competency and expertise ensures high 
quality, evidence-based services are provided in a focused and timely 
manner with demonstrable outcomes for families and communities. 

The initiatives BUSHkids has undertaken in the past year to overcome 
the challenges of distance have included:

  ‘Lunchbox Learning Sessions’ delivered via videoconference 
featuring presentations from clinical staff

 professional supervision

  quarterly, discipline specific, whole-of-organisation meetings to 
support peer connection, information sharing and collaboration

  internal and external professional development activities 

  supporting undergraduate student clinical placements.

Emerald 
During the year, the Emerald Allied Health office  
was joined by the new Early Start team, which began providing 
NDIS Early Childhood Early Intervention (ECEI) Services to the 
Central Highlands region. The co-location of the new  
team required the refurbishment and reconfiguration of the existing 
Centre to accommodate family-friendly consultation rooms, an 
open-plan team office, a new outdoor area for intervention, and 
a dedicated teleHealth room to support tele-Psychology and tele-
Speech Pathology services into and out of Emerald. 

The new teleHealth room has allowed us to provide Speech 
Pathology services to remote areas of the Central Highlands region 
from the Emerald Centre, while the provision of tele-Psychology 
from Brisbane has enabled the Emerald team to work on a number 
of complex multidisciplinary cases, providing a holistic approach 
for vulnerable children with complex needs.

The Emerald team has continued to clock up a large number of 
kilometres by road, with regular outreach to regions including The 
Gemfields, Dysart, and Clermont. This included support to schools  
and playgroups in The Gemfields as well as a mix of targeted 
programs — Read and Grow, PALS (Play and Learning to 
Socialise), Alert self-regulation program, and Fun FRIENDS — 
along with clinical interventions including assessment, therapy 
sessions with one or more disciplines, and consultation and 
capacity-building with stakeholders.

Support was also provided to the Capricornia 
School of Distance Education with our staff 
delivering education sessions for home tutors 
and parents, and in-classroom advice and 
consultation for teachers, regarding ways to 
support kids’ resilience and self-regulation.

The Emerald team has continued to be actively 
involved in community engagement events, 
including provision of children’s activities and 
an information stall at Ag-Grow, Emerald’s 
major three-day agricultural trade show.

934

Sessions in EML,  
outreach districts  

and remotely
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Bundaberg
As in Emerald, the Bundaberg AH team is now co-located with the ECEI team. Throughout the year they have 
worked closely together to provide community engagement activities with local services, stakeholders and 
at community events. The co-location has also provided opportunities for peer support and collaboration, 
including the provision of targeted programs including Read and Grow and a supported playgroup.

The clinical staff have worked hard to maximise therapy time and reduce waitlists by providing individual 
assessment, and intervention and group programs, both locally and at outreach locations around 
Bundaberg. 

Outreach has included  
assessments at Mount Perry 
State School, unidisciplinary 
and multidisciplinary assessment 
and intervention in Gin Gin and 
Childers, and group programs 
provided to kindies in Childers  
and Burnett Heads. 

Mount Isa 
With the addition of a part-time administration officer to the team 
in early 2018, the Mount Isa clinical team has been able to devote 
more time to working with children and families; however, difficulties 
recruiting qualified staff remains a challenge.

To ensure the community’s needs are met, the Mount Isa team has 
been supported by BUSHkids staff from the Warwick Centre who 
provided training for the team and other community stakeholders in the 
Abecedarian 3a and the Fun FRIENDS/Strong Not Tough programs 
Warwick also provided a family health support worker to support our 
highly successful intensive parenting support week.

Community engagement has been particularly successful, providing 
a strong profile in the Mount Isa community. The team supported a 
number of major activities including NAIDOC Week celebrations, 
the Welcoming Babies Ceremony and Mega Playgroup Day, and 
as a result have received exceptional support from the Mount Isa 
community. 

A number of generous donations have been 
received to support the Mount Isa Centre 
including fundraising efforts from a Rodeo 
Queen entrant, the Duchess Men’s Group and 
from Bunnings who have helped us rebuild the 
outdoor therapy area and garden, which was 
sadly vandalised. The Church of Jesus Christ of 
Latter-Day Saints has also provided invaluable 
support to the centre by building resources for 
clinical staff to use with families and undertaking 
general maintenance activities in the Centre.

Mount Isa Case Study
Eddie1 lives with his family in a remote Aboriginal community on 
the Northern Territory border and travels with his mum to one of our 
regional towns to access support from BUSHkids’ Speech Pathologist 
and OT. With no mobile phone reception and few landlines, 
communication with his family has been facilitated by the Community 
Health Clinic Manager in arranging appointments and flights.

The latter are provided by Queensland Health and multiple agencies 
are working together in innovative ways to assist this geographically 
isolated family to access services and support for Eddie’s development.

Eddie was referred to BUSHkids with concerns for his learning.  
At home, Eddie’s family speaks both an Aboriginal language 
and English and a key goal for his mum has been to develop his 
communication skills. The BUSHkids team and his mum collaborated  
to develop an individualised ‘core word board’ for use with him. 

Like the example shown 
here, Eddie’s contains 
pictures representing 
key words, which he 
can select by pointing 
to them to get his 
message across. 

Eddie’s mum has 
reported that he has 

been using the board when prompted and she had seen a decrease  
in meltdowns due to frustration with not being understood.

1 Not his real name

8,068

Allied Health sessions  
in 2017–18 for  

1,856 kids

643

Sessions for kids  
in Wide Bay and 

the Burnett

25

Community 
Education sessions 

conducted
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Warwick
Like other centres, staffing has been a challenge for the Warwick 
Allied Health team, and it was necessary to call on resources from 
Brisbane office to help with the provision of OT services. In return 
we were able to provide the support of our Family Health Support 
Worker (FHSW) and Social Work Team Leader to help our Mount 
Isa colleagues.

We have continued to provide outreach across the Southern Downs 
and Granite Belt, with Speech Pathology outreach sessions provided 
in Stanthorpe and Wallangarra. BUSHkids has also operated a 
weekly community playgroup for families with preschool-aged 
children, and this also incorporates the Read and Grow program.

Staff from the Warwick Centre have also been 
very active in community engagement activities 
including taking part in the major ‘Jumpers and 
Jazz’ festival in July and supporting the region’s 
NAIDOC Week celebrations. 

Our FHSW has also been instrumental in 
organising and chairing the regular Southern 
Downs Regional Children’s Services 
community network meetings, bringing together 
representatives from a number of sectors and 
agencies who work with children and families,  
to liaise, network and share information. 

As always, we have received fantastic support from the Warwick 
and Southern Downs community. Rotary Sunrise has helped 
with fundraising and joined us to help produce many packs for 
kindy families. Our community events, such as our Golf Day and 
annual Bush Dance, have received massive support from the local 
community and have helped support the Centre’s operations.

This little bloke has been working so hard in Fingergymtm at kindy this term and the results are paying off for 
him. He attends in a group of five boys and the pirate-themed week was a big hit for all of them. They loved 
walking the plank, pirate threading and drawing, and playing a fun turn-taking game of ‘pop-up pirate’!

CAHS
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Parent education 
sessions 

conducted

Warwick OT services a succes with 
‘single-session consultations’
Our Toowong-based Senior Occupational Therapist visited Warwick 
during the year as, with the absence of the local BUSHkids OT on 
extended leave, a waitlist for services was growing and prompt 
action was called for.

By offering single-session consultations, we were able to provide 
targeted, effective support over two days for 14 waitlisted families 
with each having a 45-minute consultation. 

Prior to their appointment each family was asked to identify two OT 
areas of key concern – such as handwriting, toileting, attention and 
concentration, sensory processing and sleep disturbances – and 
were provided specific ‘take-home’ tips and recommendations.

Following the consultation, caregivers were asked to complete a 
questionnaire. Feedback was highly positive, with an average rating 
of almost nine out of 10. 

A week afterwards, all families were contacted by the Senior OT in a 
follow-up phone call. Again, the feedback was positive and families 
felt their concerns were heard and they had practical and realistic 
strategies to implement. 

All families were happy to come off the waitlist and no longer 
required immediate OT support. This was a fantastic outcome for 
everyone involved, demonstrating the effectiveness of single-session 
consultations.

Members of Rotary International  
visited the Centre and were put to 

work on a production line for 
a few hours and were able 
to make multiple fine motor 

packs for kindy families. 
Each pack contains an 
information handout 

about how to improve 
fine motor skills 

and a DIY colour 
sorting tennis 
ball monster 

activity.



Dalby
The team has provided regular outreach to Chinchilla, Millmerran, 
Maclagan, Jandowae and Cecil Plains, and has been very active 
providing training and development programs in the community. 

During the year we held 12 of the BUSHkids A Steady Start to 
School (ASS2S) prep readiness workshops at local kindies and 
primary schools with a total of 86 parents attending. 

Our Dalby-based OT also provided support to the Bundaberg 
NDIS team, providing training on child development and self-care 
considerations for children from birth to the age of six.

Students in the upper primary  
years at Cecil Plains State School and Dalby South 
State School took part in a BUSHkids Fun FRIENDS 
group, while the team also conducted a Peaceful 
Kids — a mindfulness and positive psychology 
program — session in collaboration with the Special 
Education Unit at Dalby South State School. 

This was positively received, with teachers and 
parents reporting that children have developed 
skills in meditation, which they are putting into 
practice at school and at home. 

Following training by the Australian Childhood Foundation, our 
Family Health Support Worker has also conducted a trial of the 
Bringing Up Great Kids program — a parenting program that uses 
ideas of mindfulness and reflection to promote more respectful family 
interactions and communication — with four families; the results of this 
trial are currently being evaluated.

In May, our Speech Pathologist co-presented on speech and 
language development at the Western Downs Language to Literacy 
Conference hosted by First 5 Forever. 

This was an important event for the Dalby early childhood community 
with celebrated Australian children’s author Mem Fox attending and 
presenting on the weekend. 

Our team is particularly grateful for the support received from 
the Dalby community, and one of this year’s highlights was the 
presentation to the centre of a very special mural painted by students 
from Our Lady of the Southern Cross College; the mural now 
takes pride of place in our Centre.

Case Study
Billy2 lives with his family and attends a local school in one of our regional 
communities. Billy and his family initially accessed support through 
BUSHkids at his school, participating in a social skills group program 
(PALS) facilitated by our Family Health Support Worker. Following his 
involvement in the group program, he was referred for speech pathology 
and OT supports as it was identified Billy and his parents could benefit 
from further input from the team. 

Billy’s school and family had specific concerns for his ability to 
communicate and participate in activities at school. Assessment by the 
Speech Pathologist (SP) and OT involved formal testing, observations and 
liaison with the school, and with Billy and his family at home, regarding 
their specific concerns and priorities. Following these activities, it was 
evaluated that Billy’s difficulties in communication and participation were 
further exacerbated by anxiety, particularly in social situations outside the 
family home. 

The SP and OT determined he would benefit from support provided by 
BUSHkids’ Brisbane-based telepsychologist. It was agreed in conjunction 
with his family and the school to pause SLP intervention but continue 
with OT support, focusing on strategies to increase his participation, and 
confidence in such classroom-based activities as handwriting.

The telepsychologist has worked closely with Billy’s family and school 
to develop a management plan to help reduce his anxiety and increase 
confidence in talking with others outside of his immediate family. 

Supports to date have included teleHealth sessions with Billy and his 
parents, and one face-to-face appointment onsite at BUSHkids’ regional 
centre. Just over halfway through intervention, Billy’s family and teachers 
have reported he has displayed an increase in positive interactions with 
peers at school and an increase in asking for help from his teachers. 

His parents and the TelePsychologist have observed Billy has become 
more relaxed and engaged in teleHealth sessions, compared to his first 
session. Billy, his family and school, will continue to receive support from 
the team and will recommence speech pathology work once his anxiety is 
managed.

BUSHkids’ multidisciplinary teams work collaboratively with parents and 
school staff to provide a thorough and holistic service for children with 
complex needs. We continually seek innovative service delivery methods 
to ensure children and families receive comprehensive and much-needed 
support.

2 Not his real name

415

Group sessions 
conducted
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Locations

Location Street address Postal address Phone Email

BRISBANE 16 Morley Street, Toowong, Q 4066 PO Box, 1017 Milton Q 4064 07 3870 7288 info@bushkids.org.au

CAHS - CHILDREN’S ALLIED HEALTH SERVICES (Department of Education)

EMERALD 5 Clermont Street, Emerald Q 4720 PO Box 53, Emerald Q 4720 07 4982 0905 emerald@bushkids.org.au

MOUNT ISA 84 Marian Street, Mount Isa Q 4825 PO Box 262, Mount Isa Q 4825 07 4743 2575 mtisa@bushkids.org.au

Service Locations (Department of Education)

• BLACKWATER  • CLERMONT • DYSART • THE GEMFIELDS

CAHS - CHILDREN’S ALLIED HEALTH SERVICES (Queensland Health)

BUNDABERG 110 Targo Street, Bundaberg Q 4670 PO Box 1328, Bundaberg Q 4670 07 4152 3799 bundaberg@bushkids.org.au

DALBY 33B Archibald Street, Dalby Q 4405 PO Box 293, Dalby Q 4405 07 4662 2729 dalby@bushkids.org.au

WARWICK 191 Wood Street, Warwick Q 4370 PO Box 1229, Warwick Q 4370 07 4667 1200 warwick@bushkids.org.au

Service Locations (Queensland Health)

• CHILDERS • GIN GIN • GLEN APLIN • TARA • WALLANGARRA

CPSS – Children and Parenting Support Services (Department of Social Services)

AGNES WATER 1 Donohue Drive,  
Agnes Water Q 4677 0427 848 239

INGLEWOOD
Community Health Centre,  
Cnr Cunningham Hwy &  
Princess Street, Inglewood Q 4387

PO Box 6, Inglewood Q 4387 07 4652 1236 inglewood@bushkids.org.au

KINGAROY TBC 0428 202 609

MIRIAM VALE Contact Agnes Water

NANANGO Contact Kingaroy

STANTHORPE Shop 1, 17 Railway Street,  
Stanthorpe Q 4380 0428 504 392

WARWICK 191 Wood Street, Warwick Q 4370 PO Box 1229, Warwick Q 4370 07 4667 1200 warwick@bushkids.org.au

eKindy PODS  (Department of Education)

• BARALABA • BAUHINIA • BELL • COMET • DUARINGA • DULACCA • GUMLU • JERICHO • KARARA • MORVEN • PROSTON • STANWELL  
• SWAYNEVILLE • YELARBON

EARLY START – EARLY CHILDHOOD EARLY INTERVENTION SERVICES (NDIS)

BILOELA Contact Gladstone

BUNDABERG 110 Targo Street, Bundaberg Q 4670 PO Box 1328, Bundaberg Q 4670 07 4111 1655 bundabergecei@bushkids.org.au

EMERALD 5 Clermont Street, Emerald Q 4720 PO Box 53, Emerald Q 4720 07 4913 1090 emeraldecei@bushkids.org.au

GLADSTONE 65–67 Goondoon Street, 
Gladstone Q 4680 PO Box 38, Gladstone Q 4680 07 4904 5335 gladstoneecei@bushkids.org.au

GYMPIE TBC

HERVEY BAY 6 Tavistock Street, Torquay Q 4655 PO Box 5144, Torquay Q 4655 07 4183 8920 herveybayecei@bushkids.org.au

KINGAROY TBC

MAROOCHYDORE 55 Kingsford Smith Parade,  
Maroochydore Q 4558 PO Box 601, Cotton Tree Q 4558 07 5406 0708 maroochydoreecei@bushkids.org.au

ROCKHAMPTON Shop 1, 171 Bolsover Street,  
Rockhampton Q 4700 PO Box 326, Rockhampton Q 4700 07 4994 2120 rockhamptonecei@bushkids.org.au

Directory

Normanton
Mount Isa
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teleHealth

A teleHealth framework for BUSHkids: 
we have been partnering with the 
Centre for Research Excellence (CRE) 
in Telehealth at The University of 
Queensland (UQ) on a project to 
develop this groundbreaking service 
delivery technology.

Telehealth is the use of telecommunications 
technology to enhance healthcare, 
public health and health education 
delivery and support1 and can include 
videoconferencing, sending health 
information to a clinician for assessment, 
clinicians monitoring clients at home, or 
the use of mobile phones and tablets for 
healthcare. 

As an organisation that primarily supports 
rural and remote communities, for BUSHkids 
teleHealth presents opportunities to provide 
our services – particularly Allied Health 
services – in areas where therapists aren’t 
physically available. 

This research project will help BUSHkids 
develop and implement a teleHealth 
framework that will improve access to 
services in rural and remote areas. Jessica 
Campbell, a full-time PhD student, is 
working on the project with BUSHkids under 
the supervision of a UQ advisory team 
comprised of Professor Deborah Theodoros, 
Professor Trevor Russell, Associate Professor 
Nicole Gillespie and Dr Nicole Hartley.

Our teleHealth research has taken place in 
several stages. In late 2016 and early 2017,  
a ‘service gap analysis’ was conducted, 
which identified differences between current 
and desired BUSHkids health service 
delivery and the willingness of stakeholders 
to adopt teleHealth. This involved phone 
and in-person interviews with BUSHkids 
clients, staff members, decision-makers and 
community stakeholders, and analysis of 
BUSHkids service data.

The second stage of the project — in late 
2017 and 2018 — has drawn on the results 
of the service gap analysis to identify three 
different ways BUSHkids can help families in 
remote areas by using teleHealth. These are 
to provide:

•  Psychology services from Brisbane to 
the Emerald region 

•  Speech Pathology services from 
Emerald to smaller towns in the 
Emerald region

•  Parent education webinars to 
community members at home in the 
Kingaroy, Stanthorpe/Wallangarra, 
and Agnes Water/Miriam Vale 
regions. 

These service models (illustrated in the 
graphic below) have been further trialled in 
late 2018 to add:

•  Speech Pathology services from Mount 
Isa to Bundaberg and Normanton, 
as well as from Warwick into clients’ 
homes

•  Speech Pathology and Occupational 
Therapy services from Emerald into 
client homes

•  Psychology services from Brisbane  
to Warwick.

By evaluating the success of these 
different models, BUSHkids will be able 
to understand the best combination of 
technology to undertake different types of 
our own applications of teleHealth, and the 
most effective way of using the technology 
to support children and families in rural and 
remote communities. 

It is anticipated that the teleHealth trials will 
be completed by the end of 2018 and by 
evaluating the findings we will be able to 
make recommendations for the development 
of our teleHealth services during 2019. 

By the end of 2018, BUSHkids’ Dalby 
Centre will join the Brisbane, Warwick, 
Emerald and Mount Isa offices in being 
equipped to facilitate teleHealth.

1  Centre for Connected Health Policy. A Framework for Defining Telehealth 2018 [cited 2018 11 June]. Available from:  
    www.cchpca.org/sites/default/files/uploader/Telehealth%20Definintion%20Framework%20for%20TRCs_0.pdf



Case Study
Nine-year-old Laura and her mother 
Nicole2 have been working with BUSHkids 
telePsychologist Kaitlin Hinchliffe in the 
trial of teleHealth services in the Emerald 
region. Kaitlin has been working with Laura 
to help manage her anxiety and build her 
confidence. 

“It has been a learning process the whole 
way through,” Kaitlin said. “I’m based 
in Brisbane and from here I can conduct 
sessions with Laura and her mum in Emerald 
where we also have a teleHealth setup.

“We use videoconferencing but it’s more 
than the simple setup you use to chat with 
your relatives overseas. We have multiple 
cameras so I can see Laura and her mum 
and they can see me, but there are also 
cameras so we can see what’s happening 
on each other’s desks: I can write and draw 
on the screen – and so can Laura – so we 
can interact together in a similar way as we 
could if we were sitting next to each other.”

“As the sessions have progressed I’ve been 
adjusting my approach to draw on Laura’s 
strengths, such as her ability with art and her 
hands-on learning style. 

“In that way, I maximise our engagement 
and we can get the most out of the sessions. 

“For a child like Laura who’s very hands-on 
[and] arts and craft [orientated] it’s been 
a little harder for her to try and make that 
connection … over the computer,” said 
Nicole. “She responds better doing craft 
with a person in front of her; but then she 
also felt more comfortable talking to Kaitlin 
because it was on the computer; she didn’t 
have that person ‘in her face’ … 

“Once Kaitlin came to Emerald, Laura had 
the chance to make that human connection 
so her online sessions have been a lot better. 
She’s now getting more out of the teleHealth 
sessions. I think in the first couple of sessions, 
you know, the internet would just play up for 
us. But that was the only thing.”

“Kaitlin is fantastic. I have another child 
who saw a different Psychologist, but didn’t 
feel comfortable with them. I’m very very 
comfortable with Kaitlin … she’s been very 
accommodating; she’s been fantastic. I feel 
like Laura’s not a ‘number’ – I feel like Laura 
matters to her. I feel like she cares about all 
her patients.” 

2  Not their real names

Jessica Campbell spoke with BUSHkids’  
Kaitlin Hinchliffe about working remotely

What’s it been like using teleHealth to work with Laura and Nicole?

“It has been a learning process for me the whole way through, from  
the initial assessment phase, working one-on-one with Nicole, to  
therapy sessions with Laura (with support from Nicole in the room)  
via teleHealth and in person, and also liaising with the school. 

“I’ve been trying to tailor and adjust my approach as the sessions 
progress, to draw on Laura’s strengths, such as art and her hands-on 
learning style, and thereby maximise her engagement.

And how has that been working out in practical terms?

“In our most recent session, Laura was the most engaged and responsive I’ve seen. We had 
a ‘Thought Challenger’ board game I’d created and set up, with the board and counters at 
Laura’s end; we each had dice to roll, and some cards. 

“I know Nicole was happy and I felt Laura got a lot out of it – she even wanted to take the 
game home, which is great because she will keep practising and applying the skills. It’s been 
encouraging to see the gradual change in Laura’s positive mood and confidence!”

Image courtesy of Eiji Suzuki
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Early Start

About the National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS)
The NDIS is being rolled-out across Australia as a social insurance scheme aimed at ensuring 
that all people with a disability have access to reasonable and necessary supports to live  
a better life.The NDIS is administered by The National Disability Insurance Agency (NDIA),  
an independent statutory agency of the Federal Government.

About NDIS Early Childhood Early Intervention (ECEI)
The Early Childhood Early Intervention approach is focused on children with 
developmental delay aged from birth to six years of age, and their families and carers, 
in a family-centred manner. 

ECEI focuses on the individual needs of each child and works with families to link them 
with mainstream supports. The ECEI approach is flexible and focuses on family-centred 
practices delivered in natural settings, which leads to greater inclusion for children 
by building family strengths and growing the capacity of mainstream and community 
services to support children with developmental delay and disability.

The ECEI Partner is the first point of contact for support, and discusses with the family 
the most appropriate supports that would benefit the child, including information and 
referral to other mainstream supports. 

The ECEI Partner assesses whether a child requires initial support or if more intensive 
early intervention supports are needed. If the child needs more intensive support, the 
ECEI Partner works with the family to access the NDIS and develops a detailed plan 
outlining the goals and the supports required to achieve them.  
In some cases, an immediate support plan is recommended to ensure timely access to 
the specialised early supports the child needs.

NDIS ECEI services are delivered according to the principles of best practice based 
upon the available evidence.

Early Intervention: seven key principles
1.  Infants and toddlers learn best through everyday experiences and interactions 

with familiar people in familiar contexts. 

2.  All families, with the necessary supports and resources, can enhance their 
children’s learning and development. 

3.  The primary role of the service provider in Early Intervention is to work with and 
support the family members and caregivers in a child’s life. 

4.  The Early Intervention process, from initial contacts through to transition, must be 
dynamic and individualised to reflect the child’s and family members’ preferences, 
learning styles and cultural beliefs. 

5.  Individual Family Service Plan outcomes must be functional and based on 
children’s and families’ needs and priorities 

6.  The family’s priorities, needs and interests are addressed most appropriately by  
a primary provider who represents and receives team and community support. 

7.  Interventions with young children and family members must be based on explicit 
principles, validated practices, best-available research and relevant laws and 
regulations.

Early Childhood Intervention Australia, 2016

Why is early childhood 
intervention important?
The early childhood years lay the foundation 
for all future development. Recent scientific 
evidence shows that early experiences 
shape our lives by affecting the way our 
young brain develops. 

What happens to us in the early years has 
a major affect on our health and social 
development through to adulthood.Therefore 
we must ensure that children’s early 
experiences are positive, so they  
have a secure foundation for development.

The earlier a child is identified as having a 
disability and/or developmental delay, the 
more likely they are to benefit from strategies 
targeted towards their needs.

The success of early intervention strategies 
not only assists families through the provision 
of extra support for their child, but also 
decreases costs to schools and communities 
in the later years as children transition  
to school.

Early Childhood Intervention Australia, 2016

Delivering the NDIS in your community

BUSHkids Early Start

Funder
National Disability Insurance Scheme 
(NDIS) Partners in the Community  
Program – Early Childhood Early 
Intervention

Service  
area

•  Bundaberg Service Agreement:  
   Bundaberg Local Government Area   
   (LGA)
•   Rockhampton Service Agreement:    

 Rockhampton, Livingstone, Central  
 Highlands, Banana Shire and  
 Gladstone LGAs

•  Maryborough Service Agreement:  
   Fraser Coast, North Burnett, South  
   Burnett and Cherbourg LGAs
•  Maroochydore Service Agreement:  
   Sunshine Coast, Noosa and 
   Gympie LGAs

Service 
purpose

The NDIS Partners in the Community 
Program enables the Scheme to be  
implemented at a local community level. 

The NDIA partners with  
suitably-experienced and qualified  
organisations, with strong local 
knowledge and understanding of the 
needs of families with children with 
developmental delay or disability,  
to deliver Early Childhood Early  
Intervention Services.

26



Inaugural Early Start Bundaberg team
Bundaberg was our first NDIS ECEI team, established in August 2017 and, in its first full year 
of operation, has worked with no less than 536 families, with more than 200 NDIS plans 
approved.

Part of the team’s success has been community engagement — promoting BUSHkids and the 
NDIS services we provide — and this has included network meetings, visits to other agencies  
to promote our service, and participation in numerous community events. 

BUSHkids’ high profile in the community has led to increased support with generous donations 
from community organisations and local schools — for example, a $1,000 donation through  
St Luke’s Anglican School for our sensory garden project, which in the coming year will help 
us develop an outdoor therapy area at the Bundaberg service centre.

Community capacity-building has also been an important part of the Bundaberg NDIS 
delivery, with a series of professional development workshops conducted for early educators 
in association with Parentshop, a leading educational specialist in bringing about lifelong 
behavioural change. 

We have also successfully supported 19 childcare centres by conducting group work with 
children and supporting the work of the early educators.

In partnership with the NDIS, we have continued to develop our processes and reporting to 
make improvements to data-capture, and continue to be diligent in maintaining a constant 
regime of quality checking to ensure reporting is accurate and timely.
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432
NDIS Plans approved 
in total across ECEI  

services

Established in late 2017, our ECEI teams 
in Rockhampton, Gladstone and Emerald 
began working with children and families 
at the end of January 2018. By the end 
of June, BUSHkids teams across Central 
Queensland had worked with more than 
730 families and had 211 NDIS plans 
approved.

Like the Bundaberg team, community 
engagement has been very important 
to establish the organisation and our 
new NDIS services, particularly in 
Rockhampton and Gladstone where 
BUSHkids has not had a high profile 
since the closure of the Yeppoon Bush 
Children’s Home in 1995. 

Over the year, the teams have taken 
part in more than 200 community 
engagement events — including a 
number of Under-8s’ Week events, 
the Gladstone Harbour Festival 
and Ag-Grow in Emerald — ensuring 
that families and their communities 
are aware of the supports available 
through our NDIS ECEI services. 

BUSHkids has also successfully 
developed collaborative partnerships 
and referral pathways across the 
region, building positive relationships 
with key organisations and groups. 

Representative of these groups are 
Carers Queensland, Queensland 
Health Paediatric Services, Playgroup 
Queensland and Early Childhood 
Networks.

To reduce NDIS ECEI waiting times, the 
Rockhampton team provided families with 
the opportunity to meet early intervention 
practitioners on Saturdays to discuss 
their key concerns, receive advice and 
information and to determine the most 
appropriate pathway for their child. 

This was a very successful initiative with 
more than 200 families across the region 
attending during April, May and June, 
with the Saturday service days receiving 
very positive feedback from those who 
attended. 

The Central Queensland Early Start  
Teams continue to work in close 
partnership with the NDIS to grow our 
skills and knowledge and to provide an 
outstanding service to all families with 
whom we work.

Queensland North ECEI Teams: Rockhampton, Gladstone and Emerald coming online

221 
BDB

92 
GLT

45 
EML

74 
ROK



Early Start

Expanding our NDIS services
Building on the existing ECEI services 
we provide in Bundaberg and Central 
Queensland, in May 2018 BUSHkids 
was chosen as the NDIS Partner in the 
Community to deliver ECEI Services for the 
Maryborough service area, which includes 
the Local Government Areas (LGAs) of 
Fraser Coast, North and South Burnett,  
and Cherbourg. 

We are in the process of establishing 
services in Hervey Bay and Kingaroy with 
a visiting service to North Burnett and 
Cherbourg. BUSHkids was also chosen to 
deliver ECEI services in the Maroochydore 
service area covering the local council 
areas of Sunshine Coast, Gympie and 
Noosa.

To establish the new services quickly, 
BUSHkids has been able to draw on the 
experience of staff who helped establish, 
and who have worked in, our existing NDIS 
ECEI service areas.

Maroochydore Early Start Team
In late August 2018 a Social Worker, Speech Pathologist, Occupational Therapists 
and a number of Early Intervention Facilitators joined the new team. Experienced staff 
from our existing ECEI teams will also provide support as they commence working from 
premises in Maroochydore and Gympie.

The new BUSHkids staff also received orientation from the NDIS Early Childhood Early 
Intervention team, and training in group work to provide initial supports for families 
requiring short-term intervention. 

From October 2018, support plans will be developed that can be implemented as soon 
as the NDIS officially rolls out in the Maroochydore service area in January 2019; 
before then,active community engagement and service promotion is underway. 

28 Hervey Bay Early Start Team
Eighty years after our operations began at Hervey Bay, a new BUSHkids service 
commenced staff orientation training at the end of July 2018, with Early Intervention 
Facilitators, a Psychologist, Social Worker, Occupational Therapist and support staff 
joining over the following weeks.

The team has been able to start providing services and support planning earlier than 
expected thanks to support from experienced members of the existing Bundaberg ECEI 
team, who have helped train new staff in both Maryborough and Maroochydore. 

In addition, the team has also benefited from training from the NDIS Early Childhood 
Early Intervention team in Geelong and internal BUSHkids training in the provision of 
initial supports for families requiring short-term intervention. 



On a visit to Maryborough in 1934, 
Queensland Governor Sir Leslie Orme 
Wilson suggested the Maryborough branch 
of ex-servicemen’s Christian philanthropic 
organisation TOC H should investigate the 
idea of bringing needy children to the coast 
for a break from the rigours of Outback life. 

TOC H developed the idea into a more 
comprehensive medical scheme, bringing 
children from Queensland’s Central West for 
summer camps in Pialba where they received 
medical and dental care. The following year, 
this grew into the statewide Queensland Bush 
Children’s Health Scheme.

In 1938, the Scheme opened its first Home on 
the Esplanade at Torquay to accommodate 
disadvantaged kids from South Western 
Queensland. This was replaced by a purpose-
built facility in 1960.

In 1984, after major refurbishment, the 
Torquay Home was converted into the 
Scheme’s specialist home for children aged 
from birth to 16 with profound multiple 
disabilities, with support to accommodate 
up to 24 children with severe disabilities at 
a time. 

In the 1990s, as BUSHkids began its 
operational pivot towards delivering services 
in regional communities, the Torquay Home 
was closed in 1997. The old Home still stands 
and in 2018 is a backpacker’s hostel.

Below left: a happy group of kids in 1947, revitalised after 
six weeks at the Hervey Bay seaside and about to head 
home to Outback Queensland.

Background: the Torquay Home’s bus driver Bill Cook in 
1987, looking after one of the profoundly disabled kids 
staying at the Home.

1961

1978

2015

Our ‘spiritual home’ – Maryborough and Hervey Bay.
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Susan helps steer 
BUSHkids growth

Susan Harrison has been the BUSHkids 
Clinical Services Manager for the last  
five years and her role has been 
pivotal to the expansion of our 
organisation over that time.

“I joined BUSHkids in September 2013 and it really was serendipity 
that I ended up here,” said Susan. “I had recently returned to 
Australia after living in the UK for 13 years. I was working in  
Brisbane managing multi-disciplinary teams but was looking  
around for a new challenge. 

“One morning on the way to work I saw Carlton’s car drive past 
covered in BUSHkids logos, and it caught my eye. It really was fate, 
as I then came across the Clinical Services Manager role advertised 
with BUSHkids! I did some digging, and the more I found out about 
the organisation, the more it looked like somewhere that fitted with 
my own values and aspirations. 

“Five years later I’m still loving every minute of working for 
BUSHkids. The organisation has changed a lot in that time.  
When I joined we had just the five Allied Health teams in Mount Isa, 
Emerald, Bundaberg, Dalby and Warwick, with four staff in each 
centre and a Family Health Support Worker based in Inglewood. 

“Including the Toowong office there were only around 30 full-time  
time staff, and we now have close to 150!

“It’s been great seeing and contributing to the growth of the 
organisation. We’ve maintained our core services as a strong base 
and have been able to progressively build on them.

“In 2015, we were successful in our application to provide Children  
and Parenting Services in Stanthorpe, Kingaroy and Agnes Water 
through newly-available DSS funding. This expansion into new 
areas and new service types was the precursor to further expansion 
through the National Disability Insurance Agency’s Partners in the 
Community Program.

“The NDIS has emerged in our service provision landscape as a real 
game-changer and BUSHkids has now established Early Childhood 
Early Intervention Teams in Bundaberg, Emerald, Rockhampton and 
Gladstone. We’re currently in the process of establishing two more 
services in the Fraser Coast, North and South Burnett and Cherbourg, 
and in the Sunshine Coast and Gympie.

“The Partners in the Community Program is a great fit for BUSHkids 
as we have a depth of experience in delivering early intervention 
services across regional Queensland

“As we have grown as an organisation, I have had the opportunity to 
grow professionally and personally as well, and I am really excited 
to see the career opportunities opening up to emerging leaders 
across the organisation. I’m really enjoying supporting dedicated, 
high achieving staff to challenge themselves as they step into new 
roles and speaking with early starters about their career options and 
potential pathways within BUSHkids. This is a significant change, 
which has only been possible with the growth in the organisation.”

Introductions

Building BUSHkids 
NDIS service delivery

Kay Woods is our Service Delivery 
Manager and is currently working 
hard to establish our new NDIS Early 
Childhood Early Intervention Service 
(ECEI) in Hervey Bay.

“I grew up on a farm outside Clifton on the Darling Downs,” Kay 
said, “so I know a fair bit about the challenges rural families face 
and that was one of the things that attracted me to BUSHkids.

“I’ve been here a little over a year now. I’d previously been 
working as a social worker with Disability Services in both case 
management and clinical teams and the freedom of the work 
here after working for government is really refreshing. Every day 
is different; sometimes challenging, but always different! 

“BUSHkids had given me the opportunity to develop different 
areas of my practice and I really appreciate the support I’ve 
received. The growth of the organisation has also provided 
opportunities for me to build my skills in different areas.

“Last year [2017] I was part of the group that helped establish 
the NDIS service in Bundaberg. That was a great team 
achievement and one I am really proud that I was involved with; 
now I’ve been given the chance to do it all again in Hervey Bay 
and Maroochydore!

“One of the great things about BUSHkids is that, while we have 
grown considerably, even in the relatively short time I’ve been 
here, it has still retained the feel of a smaller organisation. “

“The support and collaboration across all teams is great, while 
the organisation itself continues to be adaptable and flexible to 
keep itself relevant to the changes in society. The development  
of the NDIS services is a great example of that.

“I feel pride in the work that we all do at BUSHkids.  
I often meet adults who as children attended the Bush 
Children’s Health Scheme clinics on the coast and they 
always have such fond memories of BUSHkids; that  
really makes me proud. 

“It’s great to work for an organisation with such a rich history  
that has helped so many people.”
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Beth gives kids an even 
steadier start to school
Speech Pathologist Beth Cassin began  
work for BUSHkids in 2016 supporting 
the development of our A Steady Start 
to School program and is now the Allied 
Health team’s Services Manager.

“I grew up in Darwin which, although a major city, is still pretty 
isolated,” Beth recalls. “In high school I completed work experience 
with an Allied Health team that provided outreach services to children 
in remote Aboriginal communities. I was troubled by the obvious 
differences in health, educational and employment opportunities for 
families in these remote areas. 

“It was this experience that made me want to train as a Speech 
Pathologist and work with people who are disadvantaged by 
geographical isolation. Working for BUSHkids gives me the 
opportunity to continue helping families living in rural and remote 
communities.

“I’m incredibly proud to have been involved in the development of 
A Steady Start to School (ASS2S). A child’s successful transition 
into Prep contributes so much to their future educational success and 
ASS2S really helps families with a smooth progression. 

“The package evolved so much from the initial project proposal to the 
finished workshop we now deliver and it’s a brilliant example of a 
universal program that will benefit every parent or carer who attends. 
It’s evidence-informed and incorporates all of the principles we know 
improve social, emotional and academic outcomes for children. 

“Recently our Dalby team presented the ASS2S workshop at  
a local school to parents of children starting Prep next year.  
A mother approached our team at the end to say that she had 
attended another school readiness information session by BUSHkids 
two years ago for her older child and compared how she felt at the 
end of both sessions. This mum felt the information in ASS2S had 
provided her with doable, practical suggestions and helped her to 
feel good about her child starting school. She said the workshop 
affirmed she is doing many of the right things at home but, most 
importantly, it gave her additional practical suggestions to support the 
transition to school.

“It was as if she had read our original project proposal because 
this was the absolute intention of the workshop: for parents to leave 
feeling empowered to support their child’s transition to school and to 
have the knowledge and skills to do so, laying strong foundations for 
educational and social success.

“It’s fantastic to hear your work is making a positive contribution to 
a family, and that’s the great thing about working for BUSHkids. It’s 
an organisation that has the wellbeing of Queensland children and 
families at the heart of everything we do.”

A positive difference in the 
making in Central Highlands
Nadia Harley is the Senior Coordinator 
Early Intervention Facilitator for our 
new NDIS ECEI Service in Emerald; her 
background in education meant she had 
already seen BUSHkids at work.

“Before joining BUSHkids in November 2017 I was working for the 
Department of Education,” said Nadia. “I was involved in behaviour 
and learning support, implementing early intervention programs 
for targeted children and promoting inclusion for all students in the 
classroom and the playground. 

“It’s really important kids with disability have the same opportunities 
and choices in their education as all other children.

“I had seen BUSHkids staff travelling around the Central Highlands 
and had seen first-hand from my time in the classroom the difference 
BUSHkids makes. When I heard they were setting up an early 
intervention service to help kids with developmental delay and 
disability I wanted to be involved and make a difference. 

“In this job I have the ability to change the outcomes for the children 
and families I work with and it’s very difficult not to be touched by 
their situation. They share their difficulties and joys with you and it’s a 
privilege to advocate on their behalf. 

“Most of all it’s incredibly rewarding to see the children’s 
improvement and it’s humbling to feel the warmth and 
gratitude of the parents. 

“It’s been an extremely steep learning curve establishing the 
new service, but throughout I’ve been struck by the dedication, 
the overwhelming love and the sheer hard work that families 
of the Central Highlands show their children with disability and 
developmental delay. 

“These families often travel long distances, sometimes over a 
thousand kilometres a week to access support for their child; 
travelling those sorts of distances will take its toll on even the strongest 
family. I’m extremely proud that we have been able to help some of 
these families access support locally. 

“BUSHkids works hard every day to make a difference in the lives of 
every family we see and I’m proud to be part of that.”
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Practical support for kids and 
parents on the Darling Downs

Katherine West has worked as an 
Occupational Therapist (OT) in our 
Dalby service centre for two years and 
is thrilled to have seen many positive 
outcomes for families.

“I grew up on the Darling Downs so it’s good to be able to support 
communities around my ‘hometown region’,” says Katherine. 

“I really value working as part of a multidisciplinary team supporting 
rural children and their families, particularly those who otherwise 
wouldn’t be able to receive support. BUSHkids plays a really 
important role for families across such a large area like the Darling 
Downs.”

“Working with children and watching them develop new skills is a 
rewarding part of the job. Something that recently gave me a great 
sense of achievement was watching a boy I’d been working with 
write his name for the first time without help. It meant so much to him 
and his mother.

“It’s also seeing the change in parents. I was supporting one family 
where the mother preferred household chores to playing with her 
kids. Working with parents and showing them practical ways to 
support their child’s development is a big part of our job. Parents 
are a child’s first teacher. They perform a vital role in supporting their 
children’s education and development, and play is an important part 
of a child’s learning. 

“Seeing the change in that family over the time we’ve been working 
with them, seeing the joy the mother now experiences from playing 
with her children and the smiles on her kids’ faces is rewarding.”

Tabina Russell helps get 
families NDIS support
Tabina Russell has been working for 
BUSHkids since January 2018 as a 
social worker with our new NDIS 
Early Childhood Early Intervention 
(ECEI) team in Rockhampton.

“I really enjoy working with children with developmental delay 
and disability to help them reach their full potential,” Tabina said.

“Before joining BUSHkids I worked for a fostering agency that 
supported foster placements for children with high and complex 
needs. Some of the more complex children received extra support 
in the form of a youth worker, and I worked as a casual youth 
worker while I completed my social work degree at the University 
of South Australia.

“I enjoy meeting new families and helping empower them to 
benefit from the supports they need through the NDIS. Applying 
for support can be quite a daunting effort, with lots of paperwork 
to fill out, but we’re there to help. 

“It’s important to me that children benefit from the supports 
that are available to them and that they don’t miss 
out on opportunities because of their location or other 
disadvantages.” 

“Families share with me the struggles and challenges they face, 
which is emotionally touching. They tell us how desperate they are 
for some help and it is heart-warming when to some degree we 
can provide that for them. 

“One of the things I really enjoy are the community events we take 
part in which target children with disability and promote inclusion. 

“In an informal, non-clinical way we get to speak to families in 
need and tell them about the services available to them, while 
also meeting children and engaging them in fun activities. It’s a 
great way to tell people about the NDIS and BUSHkids.”

Yolanda can clearly see 
the love in eye contact
Speech Pathologist Yolanda 
Maudsley works out of our Warwick 
service centre, applying lessons 
learned from her early life in rural 
regions of Victoria. 

“I understand first-hand the need for services in rural areas,” said 
Yolanda, “because after graduation I worked for a rural health 
service providing healthcare for children, families and adults.  

“I spent most of my time providing early intervention services 
and when I moved to Queensland BUSHkids was a perfect 
fit for me. The core values of the organisation, its provision of 
early intervention to children living in rural communities, and the 
opportunity of working as part of a multidisciplinary team all 
appealed to me.

“I love working with families to put together strategies in a child’s 
natural experiences that can help their development. It’s amazing 
how even small things can bring about profound improvements.  

“Earlier in 2018 the OT and I collaborated to help a two-year-
old girl with a developmental delay. We were working closely 
with the child’s mother to implement communication and sensory 
strategies to assist her daughter; she was so supportive of her little 
girl. Each week seeing the progress the youngster was making 
and how beautifully her mother interacted with her daughter was 
really rewarding to see. “

“Most of all it was fantastic to see the power of non-verbal 
communication improvements, including the little girl’s increasing 
ability to give her mother eye contact. 

“Her mother expressed such joy about her daughter’s improving 
eye contact, and this reminded me how things we can see as 
being so simple, like looking into a little pair of eyes and seeing 
the love there, can have such a positive impact for a child and 
their family.” 

Introductions



Watching little William 
flourish in Mount Isa
Sarah Bartsch is an Occupational 
Therapist (OT) working in Mount Isa and 
she has been privileged to have played 
a key role in facilitating a truly profound, 
positive developmental outcome. 

“It’s great to be part of an organisation that has such a positive impact 
on the local community,” said Sarah. “In Mount Isa the services 
we provide make a difference for many children and I value the 
opportunity to be able to work directly with kids and their families who 
may otherwise not be able to access services.

“It can be a challenge living and working in a remote area like Mount 
Isa, but we have a great team up here and BUSHkids provides us with 
excellent support. The organisation understands the challenges we 
face and helps us with flexible working hours and great professional 
development opportunities. 

“Working with the kids and families and seeing how our services are 
making a difference to their lives is very rewarding. One of the events 
that stands out for me over the last 12 months was working with the 
family of a 19-month-old little boy who I’ll call William (that’s not his 
real name). 

“When the family first came to BUSHkids, William was unable to 
communicate in any way, he had limited engagement with others,  
did not stand and got around by shuffling around on his bottom.

“The family accessed our different services in blocks over an 18-month 
period, and they worked hard to implement strategies devised with  
the therapists to help their little boy. 

“Over this time, William has learned to communicate: he now has  
a vocabulary of more than 30 words and also uses a range of signs. 

“Most rewarding for me he is that he is now able to walk, run and 
ride his bike — and loves to play with others! The change I have seen 
in William has highlighted to me the importance of family-centred 
practice and the vital role families play in therapy; they really are key 
to making positive long-term changes for the kids we work with.”

Bec McRae’s BUSHkids 
sea-change
Bec McRae made a major career change 
when she joined BUSHkids in January 
2018 as our Administration Officer in 
Toowong, fashioning a role which quickly 
became a perfect fit for everyone. 

 “Before joining BUSHkids I was working in retail as the State Visual 
Merchandising Manager for a women’s clothing brand, designing 
displays for shops to sell the products,” Bec recalled, “and working for 
BUSHkids is very different, but I’m loving it!

“After 10 years in a very consumer-driven industry I decided I wanted 
a role that better aligned with my personal values. I wanted to work 
for an organisation that was making a difference rather than a profit, 
somewhere that was making a real contribution to the lives of others.

“When I discovered BUSHkids and looked more into the work they 
were doing with children and families in isolated areas of Queensland, 
I realised BUSHkids was a place I could really enjoy working and 
somewhere I could see a long-term future.

“Finding a role in BUSHkids has been the perfect fit for me and  
I really enjoy the challenge and diversity of my role. It offers me new 
challenges and learnings and I enjoy the growth that brings to me  
as a person. 

“In August I was involved with the official launches of our NDIS ECEI 
services in Rockhampton, Gladstone and Emerald, working alongside 
the team to coordinate the events. I had to ensure each event had 
sufficient merchandise, order new marquees for the centres, coordinate 
the travel arrangements for staff and council members, produce run 
sheets to ensure each day went smoothly and liaise with the media 
alongside Carlton. 

“Seeing the three openings all come together and be such a great 
success gave me a real sense of achievement.

“It’s fantastic to be working for an organisation that puts families 
and kids at the centre of everything it does. Even the service centre 
openings were as much about the kids and families that use the centres 
as they were about the visitors, media and VIPs that were there for the 
official opening.

“One of the lovely things about BUSHkids is the way everyone 
works together as a team to help the kids and families we 
work with. In whatever capacity they’re involved — whether 
they’re a member of staff, a volunteer or a Friends of BUSHkids 
supporter — everyone puts in 100 percent for the kids.” 

“In June I went along to the Warwick BUSHdance and to see the 
phenomenal effort the FoBk Warwick volunteers put into organising 
and running the event was inspiring. 

“Most of all, seeing their hard work bring such joy and happiness to 
the kids and families of Warwick was a truly beautiful thing to witness.” 
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Risk Assessments

2018 51
2017 29

Incident Reports

2018 27
2017 12

WHS

As BUSHkids grow and expand our services, the importance 
of implementing and maintaining comprehensive Work Health 
and Safety (WHS) policies and procedures assumes paramount 
importance. Our Quality Assurance and Risk Coordinator liaises 
with the Maintenance and Safety Coordinator to regularly review 
and update WHS policies and procedures, and associated WHS 
documentation.

All new employees and volunteers receive a WHS induction, which 
includes emergency evacuation procedures, fire extinguisher training, 
online access to all WHS policies and procedures, and guidance on 
how to complete Incident Reports and Risk Assessments.

The number of BUSHkids vehicles has grown with increasing numbers 
of staff driving throughout the regions. This presents an increased risk 
to the organisation, which is monitored diligently by the Maintenance 
and Safety Coordinator with the assistance of Brisbane-based 
volunteer Rob Gluch. Rob meticulously checks all incoming vehicle 
logs and GPS tracking logs at the end of each month. 

As part of their induction, new staff must view an RACQ Driver 
Training video prior to driving any BUSHkids vehicle. The video 
provides useful tips on how to drive safely on country roads, how 
best to avoid collisions with wildlife, and discusses safe overtaking 
techniques and braking distances.

Risk Management plays a vital role in all our activities and staff 
maintain the corporate requirement by completing thorough risk 
assessments for all outreach destinations, school visits, offsite 
playgroups, and so forth. These assessments encourage staff to think 
of possible risks associated with all new activities, help to identify 
hazards and consider new strategies to adopt to mitigate all risks.

BUSHkids on the road

Distances travelled 2018 2017

Location of vehicle km km

Bundaberg 3,412 6,108

Dalby 9,121 8,425

Emerald 9,191 8,075

Inglewood 16,904 23,028

Mount Isa 2,451 1,915

Warwick 4,610 4,761

Centre teams 45,689 52,312

Brisbane – CEO 8,468 27,462

Brisbane – CSM 12,952 2,324

Brisbane – Ute* 17,336 4,685
*available for use by all staff and volunteers for organisation purposes

Brisbane office 38,756 34,471

DSS Warwick 19,845 17,533

DSS Kingaroy 10,080 11,869

DSS Agnes Water 7,601 8,709

DSS Stanthorpe 14,808 7,325

DSS teams 52,334 45,436

NDIS ECEI Team Bundaberg 1 8,537 1,450

NDIS ECEI Team Bundaberg 2 9,275 1,457

NDIS ECEI Team Bundaberg 3 10,709 539

NDIS foundation teams 28,521 3,446

Rockhampton NDIS 1 (Nov. 2017) 4,221 n/a

Rockhampton NDIS 2 (Jan. 2018) 6,807 n/a

Rockhampton NDIS 3 (Jan. 2018) 4,037 n/a

Rockhampton NDIS 4 (Jan. 2018) 2,717 n/a

Rockhampton NDIS 5 (Jan. 2018) 289 n/a

Emerald NDIS (Mar. 2018) 3,711 n/a

Gladstone NDIS 1 (Jan. 2018) 4,612 n/a

Gladstone NDIS (Jan. 2018) 5,877 n/a

NDIS additional teams 32,271 n/a

Work Health and Safety (WHS) continues to play a very 
important role within BUSHkids and we consider it a core 
responsibility of the organisation. We continually review 
our WHS policies and procedures to make sure we keep 
our workplaces as healthy and as safe as possible for both 
workers and visitors.

75%

Increase in organisation 
Risk Assessments 

conducted

2016 • 42,296km

2018 • 100,089km

136,665
km driven in 2017

197,571
km driven in 2018

In the air

BUSHkids 2018

On the road



BUSHbase
Work has continued throughout the year to 
further develop BUSHkids’ clinical database 
application to support our Allied Health and 
administration staff. Gerard D’Rozario of 
Bootstrap IT and BUSHkids have applied 
key architectural changes to BUSHbase 
this year, with the most notable addition 
the ability for users to enter Parent/Carer 
and Professional Feedback forms. With this 
data entered into BUSHbase, we will now 
be able to start correlating feedback with 
clinical statistics to better highlight client 
outcomes.

BUSHbase is also scheduled to undergo 
its largest update since the application’s 
release in 2014. During the past financial 
year, feedback was sought from clinicians 
on how BUSHbase could be made more 
efficient and effective. That feedback 
has been compiled and Bootstrap IT, in 
conjunction with key BUSHkids stakeholders, 
is currently working on implementing the 
feedback provided. This major release was 
scheduled for October 2018 and includes 
these and other changes:

 a completely new clinical record screen

 total overhaul of Episode of Care

 enabling a user to work across  
 multiple regions

  the ability to enter large number of 
individual clients registered for groups

  additional data entry options to 
facilitate the move to the Partnership 
Approach for DSS

 Discharge Letter automation.

Social media
Alongside our website this is now the main 
way we inform stakeholders, communities 
and clients about our work, the latest 
developments across BUSHkids and 
upcoming events:

instagram.com/BUSHkids_Qld/

twitter.com/BUSHkidsqld

facebook.com/BUSHkids

In general
There have been numerous other exciting 
challenges throughout the year in the 
BUSHkids ICT space, several of which are 
touched on in other areas of this report.
Particular mention should be made of the 
ICT team’s involvement in the UQ Telehealth 
project, the establishment of BUSHkids’ new 
NDIS regions, constant improvements in 
statistical reporting and various proposals  
to further improve our ICT systems.

Dennis Siebrecht and the team at Fresh 
Method provide incredible support and 
guidance and have always adapted to 
BUSHkids’ numerous changes. Special 
thanks also to Council member Julian Martin 
for his continued support and guidance 
within all areas of BUSHkids ICT.

Website
In December 2017 the new BUSHkids 
website was launched — a huge milestone 
for BUSHkids ICT — and we recognise 
the hard work and dedication of the many 
internal and external stakeholders and even 
volunteers who devoted their time. Thanks 
must also go to Smart Multimedia and 
Gavin Grubb, who developed the website 
and its many features.

Release of the site brought with it not only 
a fresh new look but also an overhaul of 
content, and the ability to submit referral 
forms (both individuals and groups) online. 
Having Brodie Keim manage the content is 
also ensuring sufficient time and resources 
are being invested to continually maintain 
and update the site as a key touch-point.
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Meet Brodie 
Brodie Keim joined the ICT team in a support role after 
volunteering with BUSHkids under the supervision of 
Ken Lewis in 2017, to help create documentation for ICT 
projects. He then spent time working in the United States 
as a summer camp counsellor and, after returning to 
Brisbane, was sought out to become an employee.

Brodie brings with him a dual Bachelor of Business, 
Bachelor of Corporate Systems Management, and he has been tasked with development of ICT 
documentation, streamlining our ICT processes and management of the BUSHkids website.

Brodie is providing all BUSHkids stakeholders with vital ICT support, stating that: “I am 
honoured to be a member of the BUSHkids family. I have felt welcomed ever since I began  
as a volunteer and am looking forward to seeing just how much we can achieve with kids 
and their families in Queensland.”

Across BUSHkids the Information and Communications Technology (ICT) 
landscape has changed drastically this year with the rapid expansion of the 
organisation. The scope of ICT and the need to track, extract and utilise service 
delivery data has also expanded. Our inhouse technical capabilities have kept 
pace with our growth, supplemented by external technical support as required.

ICT 286
Posts on social media 

during FY 2017-18

1,000+

Likes on Facebook 
achieved in April 2018

25%

Increase in Twitter 
followers, 82 posts

91

Instagram posts,  
more than 100 followers



How you can help
Donate
Phone:   07 3870 7288 

Post:   Royal Queensland Bush Children’s 
  Health Scheme (BUSHkids) 
  PO Box 1017, Milton Q 4064

Online:  Visit our website for options: 
   https://donations.bushkids.org.au/

Email:   info@bushkids.org.au

 Donations to BUSHkids help us to:

 • provide services at each of our Centres  
  for children and their families;

 • provide staff with the resources required  
  to most effectively deliver those services;

 • provide programs and groups to assist children, 
   families and carers be the best they can be.

Bequest
A gift in your Will is an investment in the future of BUSHkids and the 
futures of all the children we help. Remembering our Queensland 
children in your Will is a special way to pledge your continuing 
support for BUSHkids’ service and will remain a living legacy of 
your love and compassion for children. 

The following wording may be used: 

“I bequeath free of all duties and charges the sum of $ ........... to 
the Royal Queensland Bush Children’s Health Scheme for the 
general charitable purpose thereof and I declare that the receipt 
of the Secretary or the Honorary Treasurer of the said Scheme 
shall be sufficient discharge to my executors.” 

Your Solicitor or Trustee Company will alter the form of wording 
when the bequest is for a share or residue of your estate. 

Sponsorship
Corporate, club or individual sponsorship of specific projects or  
equipment and resources is an excellent way to ensure a continuity 
of service for country children.  Please contact our Brisbane office 
or your nearest Centre for more information on current projects.

ESTATES, LEGACIES AND TRUSTS 
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018                                   $

Nellie Muriel Ivers Foundation 59,038.36

Estate of Marjory Geeves 10,006.09

Russell McKimmin Charitable Trust 13,075.39

Mavis Douglas Winter Fund 12,243.90

CH Boden Memorial Trust 8,056.71

Olive NS White Foundation 3,156.84

N & M Hurll Charitable Trust 3,386.48

Hart Family Perpetual Trust 3,994.70

Estate of Hazel Myra Rakovszky 174,040.83

Estate of Maureen Turner 3,226.50

Estate of Lyndal Brown 3,000.00

Estate of Florence Valentine 500.00

Estate of Ardlie Valda Martin 118,299.70

TOTAL 412,025.50

 

 
 
 
 
The Royal Queensland Bush Children’s Health Scheme gratefully 
acknowledges the kindness of everyone who has supported 
the works of BUSHkids in the past year. In consideration of the 
Privacy Amendment (Private Sector) Act 2000, the full list of 
donations has not been published.

Our heartfelt thanks and great admiration go out to all those 
who, in whatever way, have supported our regional and rural 
children and families this year.  We would be pleased to receive 
your written advice at the time you send your next gift if you wish 
that it be acknowledged in our 2018–2019 Annual Report.

BUSHkids sincerely expresses the appreciation of our clients and 
staff for the assistance and encouragement given by our fellow 
Queenslanders, community groups, service clubs, media, health, 
welfare and education personnel throughout the state.

The financial assistance given by the Queensland Government 
through the departments of Health and Education is gratefully 
acknowledged, as is the valuable support of our many 
corporate partners, sponsors and suppliers - please see our 
‘CONNECTIONS’ pages.

Funding provided by the Commonwealth Department of 
Social Services ‘Families and Children Program’ and through 
the National Disability Insurance Agency enables BUSHkids 
to extend our early intervention and early childhood early 
intervention services to families in need or at risk in regional areas 
of Queensland and is very much appreciated.

Acknowledgements

Thanks
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TREASURER’S REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Dear Members and Friends    
Set out below is a Statement of Assets & Liabilities and some Notes relating to the Accounts.

STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT 30 JUNE 2018
ASSETS

FIXED ASSETS
Management and Therapy

Land & Buildings  3,377,412  1,077,220  266,090  443,544  229,871  409,661  951,026   –

Motor Vehicles  35,410  21,885  2,064  1,866  2,080  2,906  1,943  2,666 

Plant & Equipment  214,908  132,935  15,542  12,186  11,531  24,295  17,061  1,358 

Fixed Assets used for Therapy 
Purposes  3,627,730  1,232,040  283,696  457,596  243,482  436,862  970,030  4,024 

Rental

Land & Buildings  1,024,675  619,159 – – – –  405,516 –

Plant & Equipment  4,945  1,919 – – – –  3,026 –

Fixed Assets used for Rental 
Properties  1,029,620  621,078 – – – –  408,542 –

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS  4,657,350  1,853,118  283,696  457,596  243,482  436,862  1,378,572  4,024 

CURRENT & INVESTMENT ASSETS

Cash on Hand and at Bank  4,651,073  4,651,073 – – – – – –

Prepayments and Deposits  31,995  31,995 – – – – –  – 

Debtors  157,369  157,369 – – – – – –

Accrued Income  35,715  35,715 – – – – –  – 

Interest Bearing Securities  1,594,210  1,594,210 – – – – – –

Shares in Companies  8,625,413  8,625,413 – – – – –  – 

TOTAL CURRENT & INVESTMENT 
ASSETS  15,095,775  15,095,775 – – – – –  – 

TOTAL ASSETS  19,753,125  16,948,893  283,696  457,596  243,482  436,862  1,378,572  4,024 

LESS LIABILITIES 

Tax Office  80,258  80,258 – – – – – –

Other Creditors & Accruals  1,876,723  1,876,723 – – – – – –

Employees Entitlements  278,646  278,646 – – – – – –

TOTAL LIABILITIES  2,235,627  2,235,627 – – – – – –

NET ASSETS  17,517,498  14,713,266  283,696  457,596  243,482  436,862  1,378,572  4,024 

1.   Assets comprise:

Cash at Bank        4,651,073

       Investments 10,219,623

       Debtors 225,079

       Real Estate 4,402,087

        Motor Vehicles 35,410

        Plant and Equipment 219,853

                                                                         19,753,125

        and our liabilities:

                      Sundry Creditors 1,956,981

         Employees Entitlements 278,646

2,235,627

                      NET ASSETS 17,517,498

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
 2.    Land is shown at Valuer-General rate assessment values.
  3.    Buildings, Vehicles and Equipment are shown at cost less depreciation.          
  4.    Investments are shown at Stock Exchange values at 30 June 2018.
  5.    Items of Plant purchased for $300 or less are written off but are recorded in our  
  Asset Register.
  6.   The Queensland Government continues to support BUSHkids and we are extremely  
  grateful for its financial assistance.
  7.   We also thank our valued friends who support us by gifts and bequests;  
  your support is vital.
  8.  The Department of Social Services continues to support BUSHkids and we  
  acknowledge their important contribution.
  9.  The National Disability Insurance Agency has become partner in the community with  
  BUSHkids in the regions of Bundaberg, Rockhampton, Maryborough and  
  Maroochydore.

  On behalf of the Chairman and the Council 

  A J McLean B.Bus. GDPA  CA   Honorary Treasurer
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Financial

The attached special purpose financial statements of Royal Queensland Bush Children’s Health Scheme for year ended 30 June 2018 
are, in our opinion, properly drawn up so as to present fairly the financial position of the Royal Queensland Bush Children’s Health 
Scheme as at 30 June 2018 and the result of its operations for the year then ended and are in accordance with the provisions of the 
constitution.  Signed in accordance with resolution of the Council.

N J Bartels OAM   A J McLean  
Chairman    Honorary Treasurer            Dated at Brisbane this 12th day of September, 2018

OPERATING STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 Notes   2018   2017

Operating Surplus (Loss) before Income Tax 2 345,915 (88,176)

Income Tax Expense – –

Operating Surplus (Loss) after Income Tax 345,915 (88,176)

Retained Surplus at the beginning of financial year 15,625,155 15,713,331

Retained Surplus at the end of the financial year 15,971,070 15,625,155

The above Operating Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes.

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AS AT 30 JUNE 2018 Notes   2018   2017

CURRENT ASSETS $ $

Cash 10(a) 4,651,073 3,912,716

Receivables 3 193,084 194,574

Prepayments 31,995 30,658
Investments 4 10,219,623 8,660,282
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 15,095,775 12,798,230

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, Plant, Equipment and Vehicles 5 4,657,350 4,776,035

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 4,657,350 4,776,035

TOTAL ASSETS 19,753,125 17,574,265

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Creditors and Accrued Expenses 363,579 328,185

Grants Received in Advance 1,593,402 235,746

Provision for Employee Entitlements 252,975 206,803

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,209,956 770,734

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Provision for Employee Entitlements 25,671 34,450

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 25,671 34,450

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,235,627 805,184

NET ASSETS 17,517,498 16,769,081

ACCUMULATED FUNDS

Retained Surplus 15,971,071 15,625,155

Asset Revaluation Reserve        6 1,546,427 1,143,926

TOTAL ACCUMULATED FUNDS 17,517,498 16,769,081

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT BY THE COUNCIL
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INCOME 2018 2017
Government Grants 4,881,454 2,090,726
Dividends Received 515,514 504,731

Interest Income 113,421 104,024
Profit-Sale Fixed Assets/Investments 197,843 416,040

Rent Received 63,768 64,181
Estates and Legacies 412,026 262,260

Donations 102,171 83,202
Fundraising 24,042 16,123

Other Grants 223,180 327,028
Sundry Income 6,065 54

Management Fee 17,739 —
TOTAL INCOME 6,557,223 3,868,369

EXPENDITURE
    Employment Expenses        Employee Entitlement Provision     37,394 43,989

     Superannuation 374,099 233,785
     Wages 3,987,595 2,455,926

     WorkCover 67,422 30,405
     Staff Recruitment 19,065 15,025

     Staff Training 85,252 36,652
     Other Staff Expenses 22,490 10,146

     Fringe Benefits Tax 4,911 4,820
Total Employment Expenses 4,598,228 2,830,748

Other Admin Expenses                     Advertising & Marketing 94,028 59,094
Audit Fees 4,600 4,500

Bank Charges 2,390 1,639
Brokerage & Commission 3,376 3,479

Commissions – Rentals — —
Cleaning 46,794 37,686

Computer Expenses 22,306 19,036
Community Capacity Building 24,082 —

Community Training Programs — 68,413
Conference Expenses 145 54,149

Consulting Fees 64,098 43,478
Depreciation 226,689 172,488

Electricity 42,417 23,092
Entertainment — —

Fire and Security 5,946 4,155
Freight Expenses 2,703 428

Fundraising / Function Expenses 2,513 2,001
Insurance 40,589 34,574

Interest Paid — —
Land Tax 4,963 4,425

Legal Fees 850 —
Letting Fee — —

Meeting Expenses 4,111 3,221
Motor Vehicle Expenses 128,516 68,464

Moving Expenses 320 0
Network Disposable Expenses 189,136 164,451

Office Costs 270,206 58,589
Organisational Support 16,288 —

Outreach Expenses 1,904 —
Postage 8,517 5,751

Printing & Stationery 41,002 47,727
Rates 39,663 43,542

Repairs & Maintenance 43,606 41,332
Research Expenses 27,526 28,039

Resources 85,646 34,311
Submission Preparation — 23,309

Subscriptions 897 1,294
Sundry Expenses 287 34

Telephone & Communications 35,987 32,190
Therapy Forms & Consumables 2,955 7,601

Travel 128,024 33,305
Total Other Admin Expenses 1,613,080 1,125,797

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 6,211,308 3,956,545

OPERATING SURPLUS (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX 345,915 (88,176)

INCOME & EXPENDITURE FOR 
THE YEAR ENDED  
30 JUNE 2018
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Notes 2018 2017

                               Inflows       
(Outflows)           

Inflows       
(Outflows)           

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts from Subsidies, Donations and Rent                                                                  7,098,749 3,001,326
Payments to Suppliers and Employees (5,911,830) (3,472,678)
Dividends Received 514,109 483,006
Interest Received 104,329 107,724
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES 10(b) 1,805,357 119,378

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Property, Plant and Equipment (108,004) (193,890)
Investments (958,996) (308,854)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (1,067,000) (502,743)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 738,357 (383,365)

Cash at beginning of the financial year 10(a) 3,912,716 4,296,081
Cash at end of the financial year 10(a) 4,651,073 3,912,716

The above Statement of Cash Flows is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This financial report is a special purpose financial report prepared in order to satisfy the financial reporting requirements of the 
Scheme’s constitution and relevant legislation.  The council has determined that the entity is not a reporting entity.  The financial 
report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historic costs and does not take into account changing money values 
or, unless where specifically stated, current valuations of non-current assets.  The following significant accounting policies, which are 
consistent with the previous period unless otherwise stated, have been adopted in the preparation of this financial report. 

Income Tax    

No income tax liability exists, as the Scheme is exempt from income tax in accordance with Section 50-5 of the Income Tax Assessment 
Act 1997. 

Property, Plant and Equipment    

Plant and equipment is depreciated so that the assets are written off over their estimated useful lives using reducing or straight  
line methods as appropriate. Land is carried at council valuation which is in accordance with the State Valuation Service annual  
valuation as at 30 June 2018.  Buildings, Motor Vehicles & Plant and Equipment are carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses.     

Employee Entitlements    

Provision is made for the entity’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees to the end of the  
reporting period.  Employee benefits have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.  Provision 
for Long Service Leave is made after five years’ service. 

Provisions    

Provision as recognised when the entity has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is probable that 
an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.  Provisions are measured at the best estimate 
of the amounts required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period.     

Goods and Services Tax    

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the mount of goods and services tax (GST).  The net amount of GST recoverable 
from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of the payables. 

Revenue and Other Income    

During the year, significant revenue was obtained from government grants.  At the date of this report, the council has no reason to 
believe that this funding will not continue.  Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest rate method which for floating 
rate financial assets is the rate inherent in the instrument.  Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to receive a dividend has 
been established.  Grant and donation income is recognised when the entity obtains control over the funds which is generally at the 
time of receipt.  All revenue is stated net of the amount of GST.     

Investments    

Investments held are initially recognised at cost, which includes transaction costs.  They are subsequently measured at fair value 
which is equivalent to their market bid price at the end of the reporting period.  Movements in fair value are recognised through an 
asset revaluation reserve.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS



2018 2017

2 – OPERATING SURPLUS

Operating Surplus (Loss) before Income Tax has been determined after:

(i) Crediting as Revenue

     Dividends 515,514 504,731

     Interest 113,421 104,024

     Net gain (loss) on disposal of other non-current assets 197,843 416,040

(ii) Charging as Expense

      Depreciation 226,689 172,488

      Provision for employee entitlements  37,394 43,989

3 – RECEIVABLES

Interest Receivable 35,715 26,624

Sundry Debtors 157,368 167,950

193,084 194,574

4 – INVESTMENTS

Shares - at Market Value 8,625,413 7,134,423

Interest Bearing Securities - at Market Value 1,594,210 1,525,859

Investment in Perpetuity 1 1

        10,219,624 8,660,283

5 – PROPERTY, PLANT, EQUIPMENT AND VEHICLES

Land at cost — —

Land at Council's Valuation (ie SVS values) - 30.06.2018 2,776,500 2,776,500

Buildings at Cost   2,761,294 2,761,294

Disposals at cost — —

Less Accumulated Depreciation and Amortisation 1,135,707 1,067,988

1,625,587 1,693,306

Plant and Equipment at cost 1,209,943 1,067,632

Less Accumulated Depreciation 994,437 926,044

215,506 141,588

Intangible Assets at cost 4,347 115,307

Less Accumulated Amortisation — —

4,347 115,307

Motor Vehicles at cost 210,313 210,313

Less Accumulated Depreciation 174,903 160,979

35,410 49,334

4,657,350 4,776,035

6 – ASSET REVALUATION RESERVE

Balance at 1 July 2017 1,143,925 923,097

Add Revaluation of Investments sold during year (17,067) (405,427)

Add Revaluation of Land during year — 95,000

Add Revaluation of Investments at 30 June 2018 419,569 531,255

Balance at 30 June 2018 1,546,427 1,143,925

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
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2018 2017

7 – REMUNERATION OF COUNCILLORS 

No Councillor of Royal Queensland Bush Children’s Health Scheme received or is 
due to receive any remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2018.

— —

8 – REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

Auditing the Financial Statements 4,600 4,500

9 – CONTINGENT ASSETS & LIABILITIES

There were no contingent assets or liabilities as at 30 June 2018. — —

10 – STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS 

a)  Reconciliation of Cash

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash on hand and 
in banks and investments in money market instruments, net of outstanding bank 
overdrafts. Cash at  the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash 
Flows is reconciled to the related items in the balance sheet as follows:

Cash on Hand 2,470 1,145

Cash at Bank  – Current Account 80,362 30,639

                         – Short Term Call 4,568,241 3,880,932

4,651,073 3,912,716

b) Reconciliation of Operating Surplus (Loss) after Income Tax  
to Net Cash used by Operating Activities

Operating Surplus 345,915 (88,176)

Depreciation 226,689 172,488

Employee Entitlements 37,394 43,989

Profit (Loss) on Sale of Property, Plant & Equipment and Investments (197,843) (416,040)

Changes in Assets and Liabilities

Decrease (increase) in prepayments (1,337) 14,077

Decrease (increase) in receivables 1,489 (28,132)

Increase (decrease) in creditors and accrued expenses 35,394 267,391

Increase (decrease) in Grants received in advance 1,357,656 153,781

Net cash used in operating activities 1,805,357 119,378

11 – CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS

There are no major capital expenditure commitments at 30 June 2018. — —

12 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Nothing has occurred since 30 June 2018 which would have a material effect  
on these financial statements.
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ROYAL QUEENSLAND BUSH CHLDREN’S HEALTH SCHEME

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL OF THE
ROYAL QUEENSLAND BUSH CHLDREN’S HEALTH SCHEME

Opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial report, being a special purpose financial report, of Royal
Queensland Bush Children’s Health Scheme, which comprises the assets and liabilities statement as at
30 June 2018, the income and expenditure statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the certification by members of the
council on the annual statements giving a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of
the Royal Queensland Bush Children’s Health Scheme.
In our opinion, the financial report of Royal Queensland Bush Children’s Health Scheme presents fairly, in
all material respects, the financial position of Royal Queensland Bush Children’s Health Scheme as at
30 June 2018 and its financial performance for the year then ended in accordance with the accounting
policies described in Note 1 to the financial statements and the requirements of the constitution of the
Royal Queensland Bush Children’s Health Scheme.

Basis for Opinion
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We have conducted
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report.
We are independent of the Royal Queensland Bush Children’s Health Scheme in accordance with the ethical
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110: Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We
have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Emphasis of Matter
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the
basis of accounting. The financial report has been prepared to assist Royal Queensland Bush Children’s
Health Scheme to meet the requirements of its constitution and relevant legislation. As a result, the
financial report may not be suitable for another purpose.

Council’s Responsibility for the Financial Report
The council of the entity is responsible for the preparation and fair representation of the financial report in
accordance with the financial reporting requirements the’ Royal Queensland Bush Children’s Health Scheme
and for such Internal control as the council determ lnes is necessary to enable the preparation and fair
presentation of a financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the council is responsible for assessing the Royal Queensland Bush
Children’s Health Scheme’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
relating to going concern basis of accounting unless the council either intends to liquidate the Royal
Queensland Bush Children’s Health Scheme or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to
do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this
financial report.
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As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

- Obtain and understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Royal Queensland Bush Children’s Health Scheme’s
internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Royal Queensland Bush
Children’s Health Scheme.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the Royal Queensland Bush Children’s Health Scheme
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to the events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Royal Queensland Bush Children’s Health Scheme’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if
such disclosures are inadequate to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Royal Queensland Bush Children’s Health Scheme to cease to
continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the council regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

MORRIS & BATZLOFF
Norm Hoare
Registered Company Auditor
2/141 Logan Road,Woolloongabba QLD
Dated this  day of September 2018.



Snapshot

Notes to the Snapshot

With BUSHkids’ rapid expansion in 2017-18 
and the increased diversity of funding 
streams, varying data capture and reporting 
requirements, the statistical landscape looks 
considerably different to that of previous 
years’ Annual Reports.

For example, BUSHkids’ traditional 
operational regions increasingly feature 
co-located service delivery channels from 
different funders, with the NDIS, particularly, 
utilising Local Government Areas (LGAs) as 
the basis for rollout of and reporting on that 
agency’s services.

Reporting requirements from our more 
established funders have also changed over 
time, with the Department of Education now 
requiring reports on sessions and clients 
up to Year Six (previously only from Prep to 
Grade Two).

Many more BUSHkids clients, too, are 
participating in more services from our 
expanding portfolio; taken together, the 
inevitable outcome of being counted multiple 
times in separate funding reports making any 
aggregation in this Snapshot challenging. 

Individual and group session numbers can 
still be effectively captured, as shown on this 
page, with minimal duplications therein.

Within BUSHbase and across our clinical 
teams, additional work has been done to 
improve our recording of individual clients, 
including providing dedicated admin support 
to selected Centres to enable therapists to 
focus on their service delivery.  

Of note is that BUSHbase is no longer our 
single data collection point: with the rollout of 
BUSHkids’ NDIS Partner in the Community 
services, significant additional data is 
now available to BUSHkids at the various 
interfaces with that agency’s own specific 
reporting requirements.
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The Royal Queensland Bush Children’s Health Scheme – popularly known  

as BUSHkids – is a not-for-profit organisation which has been supporting  

the health and wellbeing of children and families across Queensland’s  

regional, rural and remote communities for more than 80 years.

instagram.com/BUSHkids_Qld/

twitter.com/BUSHkidsqld

facebook.com/BUSHkids
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